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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

To Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the annual report of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2015 (the “Year”). During the
financial year of 2015, the Group’s two sectors of business
have continued to perform well and achieved growth in both
turnover and profit, which further strengthened our position
as an integrated environmental protection (“EP”) services and
eco-friendly construction materials provider.

With the public’s increasing concerns about the living
environment and for the sustainable development of the country,
EP is among the top priorities of the Central Government
(the “Central Government”) of the People's Republic of China
(“PRC”). As part of a bid to improve people’s quality of life and
build a “moderately prosperous society,” China’s 13th Five Year
Plan stipulates that EP and a low-carbon economy will be a
policy priority in the next five years, which includes ambitious
targets for action and further policy push on the tackling of air
and water pollution.

During the opening session of the 12th National People’s
Congress, the Premier of the State Council, Mr. Li Kegiang,
announced the target of reducing carbon dioxide emissions by
18% for the next five years. He also pledged “further reductions
in the release of major pollutants” with sulphur dioxide and
nitrogen oxide emissions to be cut by 3%. Additionally, Premier
Li’'s speech indicated that the Central Government will reduce
factory emissions of tiny harmful particulate matter (PM2.5)
by 25%. On the other hand, the Central Government pledged
stronger support for the water sector during the 13th Five
Year Plan period. Meanwhile, the Ministry of Environmental
Protection of the PRC is also speeding up the preparation of
amendments to China’s Water Pollution Prevention and Control
Law. Efforts will be strengthened to deal with industrial pollution
at the source, ensuring that the “Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Action Plan” is strictly enforced.
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Green development was also listed as a key objective in the
13th Five Year Plan. Premier Li’'s report called for the active
promotion of environmentally-friendly buildings and construction
materials, as well as the improved standard and quality of
construction projects. The Central Government’s continuous
promotion on the construction of green buildings will advance
the adoption of more environmentally-friendly materials in
housing construction, which will significantly boost the demand
for green materials and help promote industry upgrades. To
make the most of the business opportunities presented by the
surging market demand for green construction materials as
mandated by the Central Government's policies, the Group
is boosting its development of the eco-friendly construction
materials business by further strengthening the promotion of its
wood wool cement board (“WWCB”).

With the high priority and continuous active promotion of EP
by the Central Government, the Group will tap opportunities
generated by these green efforts and continue to consolidate
its competitive edge in the EP industry so as to achieve
steady growth for its water and flue treatment business and
eco-friendly construction materials business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group achieved
a total revenue of RMB1,068.6 million, increasing by 85.0%
as compared to RMB577.5 million (restated) in 2014. Gross
profit rose to about RMB245.2 million (2014: RMB156.3 million
(restated)) and gross profit margin was 22.9% (2014: 27.1%
(restated)). This growth of gross profit was mainly attributable to
the rise in revenue from the water and flue treatment business
and from sales of new eco-friendly construction materials. The
Group recorded a profit attributable to owners of the Company
of RMB69.9 million (2014: RMB28.4 million). The basic earnings
per share were RMB8.32 cents (2014: RMB3.47 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: HK2 cents per
share) as the capital will be reserved for the development of the
Group’s business operations.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

PROSPECTS
EP Construction Engineering Project Business

Severe smog problems and mounting water pollution have
attracted the attention of the Central Government. Thus a
series of policies targeting key construction projects has been
launched to address these issues as in recent years, EP has
been an increasingly important issue in the PRC.

The strongly supportive national policies have significantly
spurred domestic demand for EP products. To reduce water
pollution, the State Council has published the “Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Action Plan” boosting requirements on
the prevention of industrial pollution and treatment of urban
living waste. Besides, the Ministry of Environmental Protection
is also accelerating the preparation of amendments to China’s
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law as the Central
Government showed stronger support for the water sector
during the 13th Five Year Plan period. These measures to
limit pollutant emissions demonstrate the determination and
long-term planning of the Central Government on pollution
emission controls. Under the new national policies, the demand
for EP products is set to surge in China.

Apart from providing flue gas desulphurization services to clients
engaged in power generation and non-ferrous metals, the Group
has also undertaken a dedusting project of coal-fired power
plants, an area with an increasing market demand. Currently,
the Group has 54 uncompleted water and flue gas treatment
contracts with a total value of approximately RMB546.0 million
on hand. The Group intends to continue to focus on business
and revenue in water and flue gas treatment to expand the
revenue stream and generate a stable cash flow.
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Eco-friendly Construction Materials Business

The standards and proposals in relation to green development
under China’s 13th Five Year Plan have demonstrated the great
significance attached to environmentally-friendly construction
materials. In view of the opportunities coming along with the
Central Government’s greater emphasis on green buildings, the
Group has engaged in aggressive expansion of its eco-friendly
construction materials business. Having the exclusive right to
import WWCB production facilities from the Netherlands and
operate them in the PRC, the Group has helped to compile
the National Industry Standard for WWCB construction and
inspection, which is scheduled to be implemented from 1
August 2016 onwards. Fuelled by further market penetration of
WWCB with the publication of the National Industry Standard,
the Group will take advantage of this opportunity to promote
its WWCB business and raise its public profile further, which
is expected to lead to improved performances over the year
ahead.

The Group has been actively introducing the WWCB to
construction companies and contractors. The Group has
also entered into a strategic partnership with Suzhou Gold
Mantis Construction Decoration Co., Ltd., a specialized
interior decoration enterprise in January 2016. As part of the
agreement, the Group’s WWCB products are to be utilized in
all construction projects of Suzhou Gold Mantis Construction
Decoration Co., Ltd. Besides, the Group has formed a
partnership with distributors in Shijiazhuang, Nanjing and
Chengdu, and will strive to expand its distribution network.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company is
scheduled to be held on Friday, 3 June 2016. For determining
the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the Register of
Members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 1
June 2016 to Friday, 3 June 2016, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered
holders of shares of the Company shall ensure that all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 31 May 2016.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board and the management, | would like to
express my heartfelt gratitude to all our staff for their tireless
dedication during the Year. | would also wish to extend my
appreciation to all the shareholders as they have supported the
Group to steadily grow its ongoing EP business and expand into
the new eco-friendly construction materials business. My thanks
further go to our shareholders, investors, clients, suppliers
and business partners for their constant support, which has
provided the Group with strong momentum to generate better
results in the future.

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

As an integrated EP services and eco-friendly construction
materials provider, the Group is principally engaged in the
provision of EP construction engineering solutions and services
for customers, and the development, manufacturing and sales
of new eco-friendly construction materials.

SALES OF EP PRODUCTS AND EQUIPMENT

During the year under review, sales of EP products and
equipment recorded a significant revenue growth of 82.1%
to approximately RMB864.6 million, accounting for 80.9% of
the Group’s total revenue. Gross profit increased by 65.8% to
RMB178.9 million, with a gross profit margin of 20.7%.

Sales of Water Treatment Products and Equipment

The water treatment systems produced by the Group are mainly
used to process industrial and urban wastewater. During the
year under review, the Group completed 26 water treatment-
related sales contracts, while the water treatment business
generated a revenue of approximately RMB737.3 million,
accounting for approximately 69.0% of the Group’s total
revenue.

Sales of Flue Gas Treatment Products and Equipment

The Group’s comprehensive supply chain in flue gas treatment
products and equipment provides services ranging from
engineering design to maintenance services. During the year
under review, the Group completed 19 projects related to sales
of flue gas treatment equipment, while the flue gas treatment
business generated a revenue of approximately RMB127.3
million, accounting for about 11.9% of the Group’s total
revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE WD T

EP CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING PROJECTS

Leveraging its extensive industry expertise, professional
research and development (“R&D”) capabilities and
technologies, the Group provides one-stop EP solutions to
a diverse range of clients. During the year under review, this
segment recorded revenue of approximately RMB27.4 million,
accounting for about 2.6% of the Group’s total revenue.

PROVISION OF EP-RELATED PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES (DISCONTINUED)

The Group provided EP-related professional services to its
clients via its subsidiary, Shanghai Environmental Engineering
Design & Research Institute Limited (/&3R8 TR %R A
fR A F]) (“SEEDRI). In view of SEEDRI’s loss-making position in
the past, the Group decided to dispose of its equity interests in
SEEDRI in December 2015. SEEDRI, however, will continue to
provide engineering design services to the Group and cooperate
in participating in and submitting tenders for EP engineering
projects related to such engineering design services within three
years from the completion date of the disposal. This segment
ceased after the completion of the disposal on 22 December
2015.

MANUFACTURE AND SALES OF EP
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS

WWCB is a new EP construction material for renovation and
wall components, which can be widely used in residential
and commercial buildings, noise barriers along highways
and railways, acoustic materials for music halls, stations and
car parks, and can effectively reduce engineering cost when
compared to traditional construction materials. During the
year under review, China’s economy remained sluggish and
the unstable market conditions presented challenges to the
construction sector as well as our EP construction materials
business. This segment recorded a revenue of approximately
RMB176.6 million, accounting for about 16.5% of the Group’s
total revenue, with a gross profit margin of 36.7%.

As an eco-friendly inorganic energy-conserving construction
material, WWCB is made from cement, eco-friendly fast growing
timber and non-toxic additives undergoing a high pressurization
process. Widely used overseas, WWCB enjoys distinctive
features of heat preservation, fire resistant, sound-proof,
moisture-proof, mould-proof and insect repelling properties,
and its other outstanding features include sound absorption,
hardness and durability, light weight and attractive appearance.
As an ecologically-compatible material, it is bio-degradable and
highly beneficial for EP.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In view of the potential of WWCB, the Group has engaged in
collaboration with the industry leader from the Netherlands, and
has exclusively introduced WWCB and large wall components
in the PRC. Among the six production lines imported from the
Netherlands, each with an annual capacity of approximately
140,000m?, five are standard lines that produce WWCB of
varying thickness from 10mm to 100mm. The other is a fully
automated large wall component production line which can
manufacture components with a maximum dimension of 3m
x 6m x 40cm which can be directly installed. Based on its
expertise in large wall components, the Group has developed
integrated wall component products boasting decoration and
heat preservation capabilities, thus saving production cost for
construction companies and contractors. As at 31 December
2015, three production lines have commenced commercial
operation. The Group is currently modifying the remaining three
production lines so as to produce more diversified products in
response to the market demands.

Wuxi Pan-Asia Environment Protection Technologies Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, in cooperation with
the China Academy of Building Research (FEIEERIEH5
%), has drafted and compiled the national industry standard
for application of WWCB, as eco-friendly construction material,
named “Technological Specifications for Application of Wood
Wool Cement Board” (Issuance No. JGJ/T377-2015) (the
“National Industry Standard”), and has submitted the same
to the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development (the
“MHURD”) of the PRC (% AR B Mk 20 2% #0) for
approval. The National Industry Standard mainly consists of
two sets of standards regarding molding prototype and large
wall component respectively. They provide solutions in the
field of prefabricated construction, which are in line with the
eco-friendly trend as promoted in the PRC.

On 22 February 2016, the MHURD issued the Notice No.1052,
by which the National Industry Standard was formally
promulgated and will take effect from 1 August 2016.

As the National Industry Standard, which was previously absent
in the PRC, comes into force from 1 August 2016, it sets out
the national standard for the application of WWCB. The National
Industry Standard would also facilitate and promote the market
development of WWCB as construction material and provide
standardized basis for the application of WWCB in the PRC.
We are proud that the WWCB products of the Group are in full
compliance of the National Industry Standard. That puts the
Group in an advantageous position when promoting and selling
its WWCB products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE WD T

Currently, eco-friendly construction methods and the use of
eco-friendly construction materials are promoted in the PRC
and thereby steel structural construction and prefabricated
construction are encouraged. The construction standards and
quality of such construction also keep improving.

In order to secure the Group’s leading position in the industry
and to promote the use of eco-friendly construction materials,
the Group has devoted vast efforts and investment in various
aspects of eco-friendly construction, including product
standardization, technical specification and obtaining various
patents, and has played a significant role in revolutionizing
construction development. The Group will also continue to
devote efforts in R&D of WWCB in order to enhance the quality
of its WWCB products so that the Group’s leading position in
the WWCB segment could be further secured. The Group will
also continue to promote the sales of WWCB products and
enlarge the network of designated resellers in the PRC.

During the year under review, the collaborative project
with Longyuan Construction Group Co. Ltd. on providing
prefabricated external walls to a residential district in Inner
Mongolia continued to make good progress. In terms of
market development, the Group has stepped up the promotion
of WWCB for use as building panels and blocks to replace
traditional wall building materials. In addition, the Group has
taken up sound barrier projects, utilising WWCB’s advantage in
sound insulation. In the first half of the year, the Group initiated
the Jiamin Highway project.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 1 December 2015, the Group, through its indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary Wuxi Pan-Asia Environmental
Protection Technologies Limited (#Ei%2 mIRREIFEER A7),
entered into an agreement for the disposal of 100% equity
interest in its wholly-owned subsidiary Wuxi Zhong Dian Kong
Leng Technology Limited (%% 5 ™ 1 & 2= 2 £ fi1 B R 2 7))
(“Wuxi Zhong Dian”), which held 70.05% of the shareholdings
in SEEDRI, at a consideration of RMB800,000. SEEDRI is a
company incorporated in the PRC with its principal activities
being engineering research, design of energy-saving and
environment protection facilities and infrastructures, and it holds
70% of the shareholdings in Liaoning Pan Asia Environmental
Design Engineering Company Limited (BEZE5ZIRiERT L2
BR AT (“Liaoning Pan Asia”), a company incorporated in the
PRC, which was a project company of SEEDRI, with its principal
activity being the undertaking of EP projects.
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In view of the loss-making position of Wuxi Zhong Dian and its
two non wholly-owned subsidiaries, the disposal will improve
the Group’s performance as it increases its cash resources for
the further development and expansion of its core business.
Upon the completion of the disposal transaction, the Group
recorded a gain of approximately RMB5.2 million.

Under the disposal agreement, during a period of three years
from the date of completion, whenever the Group cooperates
with SEEDRI in submitting a tender for EP engineering projects,
SEEDRI is required to provide engineering design services to the
Group and assume responsibilities in relation for such services,
and cooperate with the Group in participating in and submitting
tenders for EP engineering projects related to such engineering
design services.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2015, total assets of the Group amounted
to RMB1,862.5 million, an increase of RMB60.5 million as
compared with RMB1,802.0 million in 2014. The increase was
mainly due to increase in trade receivables. The Group’s total
liabilities as at 31 December 2015 amounted to RMB557.9
million, a decrease of RMB4.0 million as compared with
RMB561.9 million in 2014. The main reason for this decrease in
the total liabilities was due to the decrease in deposits received
and receipts in advance. The Group’s total equity as at 31
December 2015 was RMB1,304.6 million (2014: RMB1,240.0
million). The Group had unpaid bank borrowings of RMB14.0
million as at 31 December 2014 (2015: Nil) and the equity
ratio calculated by dividing interest-bearing loans and other
borrowings by total equity as at 31 December 2014 was 1.1%
(2015: Nil). The Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB276.0 million as at 31 December 2015 (2014: RMB379.2
million).
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN FOREIGN
EXCHANGE RATES

Business transactions and liabilities of the Group are largely
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollars. The Group
adopts a conservative financial policy and the majority of its
bank deposits are in Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollars. As at 31
December 2015, the Group did not have any foreign currency
bank liabilities, foreign exchange contracts, interest or currency
swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purposes.
Nevertheless, the management is continuing to monitor the
foreign exchange exposure and will take prudent measures as
and when appropriate. As at 31 December 2015, the Group did
not hold any derivatives for hedging against both the interest
rate and foreign exchange risks.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a capital expenditure
commitment in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment totalling RMB9.7 million (2014: RMB2.3 million). The
Group provides product maintenance services to customers
of flue gas desulphurization (“FGD”) construction projects and
certain EP products for a period ranging from six months to two
years after a project is completed or a product is delivered. At
the same time, the Group enjoys warranties for the work and
equipment from its sub-contractors and suppliers. The Directors
of the Company believe that the amount of crystallised warranty
liabilities, if any, in excess of the amount covered by the
warranties given by sub-contractors and suppliers, would not
have any adverse material effect on the overall financial position
or operating results of the Group.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

a) A bank deposit of the Company’s subsidiary of
approximately RMB6,543,000 as at 31 December 2015
(2014: RMB6,543,000) was pledged to a bank to secure
a banking facility of approximately RMB3,977,000 (2014:
RMB4,213,000) granted to this subsidiary.

b) As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s building with
carrying amount of approximately RMB724,000 (2015:
Nil) was pledged to a bank to secure a bank loan of
approximately RMB9,000,000 (2015: Nil).
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and the development of the society. The Group
will keep reviewing the internal environmental protection system
and make improvements to it from time to time.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in mainland China while the shares of the Company
are listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations
in mainland China and Hong Kong. As far as the Board is
concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had approximately
150 employees. Salaries of employees were maintained
at competitive levels and are reviewed annually, with close
reference to the relevant labour market and economic situation.
Remuneration of the Directors is determined based on a
variety of factors such as market conditions and the specific
responsibilities shouldered by the individual Director. Apart from
the basic remuneration and statutory benefits required by law,
the Group also provides discretionary bonuses based on its
results and the performance of the individual employee. The
Group also has an employee share option scheme in operation.
During the year under review, the Group organised professional
and vocational trainings to its employees. The Directors believe
the Group maintains admirable relations with the employees.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners, shareholders, investors and
bankers to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with our key
stakeholders closely, the Group has formulated corresponding
scheme about investor relationship, and also holds tailored
activities from time to time, such as AGM, on-site visits and
seminars. The Group also maintains a good relationship with its
customers and suppliers.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2015.

The Board was committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Group to
safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability and to formulate its business
strategies and policies, and to enhance its transparency and
accountability.

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended 31
December 2015, the Company has complied with the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Company’s
Securities Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting than the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Company’s Securities Dealing Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2015.

The Company’s Securities Dealing Code no less exacting
than the Model Code for securities transactions also applies
to all employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Company’s Securities Dealing Code by the employees was
noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises six members, consisting of
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Chairman and member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee

Mr. Jiang Lei, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Fan Yajun

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lai Wing Lee, chairman of the Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee and member of
the Audit Committee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, chairman of the Audit Committee
and member of the Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee

Professor Wang Guozhen, member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages
27 to 29 of the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2015. The relationships between the members of the Board are
disclosed therein.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
held by Mr. Jiang Quanlong and Mr. Jiang Lei respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive
Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and
daily management and operations generally. Their respective
responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board with one
of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Independent Non-executive Directors and Directors’
Re-election

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that
non-executive directors shall be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election, whereas code provision A.4.2 states that
all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment and that every director, including those appointed
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company is appointed under a letter of appointment which
is terminable by either party with 3 months’ notice in writing
served on the other side. All Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation once every three years and any new director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit himself for
re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs. Directors of the Board take decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company as well as the services and advice from the
company secretary and senior management. The Directors
may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.
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The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of
other offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews
the contribution required from each Director to perform his
responsibilities to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

The existing Directors are continually updated with the legal and
regulatory developments, the market changes and the business
activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall
be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and
meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on
relevant topics will be issued to Directors where appropriate. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2015, Mr. Leung Shu Sun,
Sunny had attended two seminars which were organized by the
qualified professionals and the Stock Exchange in relation to
financial reporting and regulatory update on listing compliance
respectively. He had also joined the online conference held by
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants relating
to various aspects, including accounts, sales and operation
planning, tax, accountancy practices etc. Mr. Leung had also
read an article of the Stock Exchange relating to corporate
governance systems. Professor Wang Guozhen had read
various publications relating to the responsibility of listed issuers
on disclosure of inside information and avoidance of false
market. He also read various chapters relating to securities and
practices of Hong Kong listed companies. Related reference
materials have also been provided to Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Mr.
Jiang Lei, Mr. Fan Yajun and Mr. Lai Wing Lee for their study.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the
chairman and members of each Board committee is set out
under “Board of Directors” on page 17 of this Corporate
Governance Report.
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Audit Committee

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process,
internal control procedures and risk management system, audit
plan and relationship with external auditor, and arrangements
to enable employees of the Company to raise, in confidence,
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2015 to review annual financial results and
reports in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014 and
interim financial results and reports for the period ended 30
June 2015 and significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems, scope of work and appointment of external auditor
and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor twice without
the presence of the executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee
include determining the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management,
and establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his associates will participate in deciding his own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee determined the remuneration
packages of the individual executive Directors and senior
management, reviewed and made recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of the independent non-executive
Directors and on the Company’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management during the
year.

The Remuneration Committee did not hold any meeting during
the year ended 31 December 2015.
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Nomination Committee

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character and integrity, qualifications, experience, independence
and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, considered and made
recommendations to the Board on the re-election of Directors
and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
during the year. The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained.

The Nomination Committee did not hold any meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2015.

Corporate Governance

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Company’s
Securities Dealing Code and the Model Code and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

22

REZEE

REZEGTIZAERNESSAN - #
FIRRENRZAESNERERF  SLEFH
REREIHENEESRERBER -
AR FHEBILIFMTEFVE LI -

AFHEEESENE REZEEBER
EFELZLCHRAUETHE - 858
TRNEFNMR - Fik - XERHBES
B BXRER - B @ TERME
Kip - REZBERIRAMEERES
ELTEMEERR (WUB) YAES
SHEB IR

EMeRBESENESREAR  BF
ZESRERNESSRLHBERAMZE
REAN RS - BE - BE - &8 - B
MERERAAFRBREREEENE
ZultmEBLEOEMERER (HE
A e

RAZBEERFANFNEBIIFRTEEN
BYM ZRMUEREERAEETIRY
HEEAUNLBTESEENRE  RERR
MR - RALZBERR BEECHERES
LT R EE T -

BE_T-AFT_A=1t—HLFE"
REZEQUEBBITEASE -
BEER

EX2RANTAEEATAEDIE

EEQCRNARAMNEEERBRNE
BEERRSAEEEBNBIINGEEE
BR - ARBEBEBTEAREIEEREN
BELEER BIARABFEETR R
BRETAMBERARAR A RETEEE R
SR RALEERBETORERBR -



Annual Report 2015 « ZE—HFFH

Corporate Governance Report

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company
held during the year ended 31 December 2015 is set out in the
table below:

TRERBE

EFRERERALFS

FEFRBE_T-AFT-A=+—8
LEERTNEFR RESEARE RN
RARR RRHAR RS T

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE SHRRH
Annual
Nomination Remuneration Audit General
Name of Director X Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Ex® ReZA® FMZAE EZAY BRRAEXE
Jiang Quanlong BRE 6/6 0/0 00  N/ATEF 1/1
Jiang Lei B& 6/6  N/ATER NATER  NATER 11
Fan Yajun BhE 6/6  NATEMA NATER  NATNEA 0/1
Lai Wing Lee TBK A 6/6 0/0 0/0 2/2 01
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny R 6/6 0/0 0/0 2/2 11
Wang Guozhen TEY 6/6 0/0 0/0 2/2 11

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held
meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of executive Directors during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 46 to
47.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of
the Company, Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited, in respect
of audit service and non-audit services for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out below:

Service category AR#IEXER
Audit service BT RS
Non-audit services IEEET RS

— Review of condensed consolidated
financial statements for the

—ERRE-_ZT—0F
SNAZ=18I1-EME

six months ended 30 June 2015 fARAR & B &
— Agreed-upon procedures on —NERERE
preliminary announcement ZBETEHITIER

INTERNAL CONTROLS

During the year under review, the Board conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company,
including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board appoints Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent as its Company
Secretary in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association and in compliance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. Mr. Wan has complied with the professional
training requirement as set out in Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2015.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual directors.
All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, extraordinary general meetings may be convened
on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Directors or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
Extraordinary General Meeting to be called by the Directors for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Directors do not
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant
to Article 113 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
Company’s Head Office at Suite 6302, The Center, 99 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong or at the Company’s Registration
Office at Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong at least seven
(7) clear days before the date of the general meeting and the
period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and shall be at least seven
(7) clear days in length.

Shareholders who wish to put forward other proposals at
general meetings may follow the procedures in “Convening an
Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders” set out above
to convene an extraordinary general meeting for business
specified in the written requisition.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Suite 6302, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Fax: (852) 3747-8047

Email: info@paep.com.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address, apart from other specified address of the Company,
if any, and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an
on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At
the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of
the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, aged 63, is the Chairman of the Board
and an executive Director of the Company. He was appointed as
Director of the Company in August 2006. He is also a member
of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
He has over 15 years of experience in China’s EP industry. He is
responsible for formulating strategies guiding the Group’s overall
development and strengthening the competitive position of the
Group in the PRC’s EP market. In addition, he is the chairman
and executive director of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Jiang is the father of Mr. Jiang Lei, an executive
Director, and father of Mr. Jiang Xin, both being controlling
shareholders of Praise Fortune Limited, controlling shareholder
of the Company. He is also the sole director of Praise Fortune
Limited.

Mr. Jiang Lei, aged 33, is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group and an executive Director of the Company. He was
appointed as Director of the Company in March 2007. He joined
the Group in March 2007 and is responsible for the business
development of the Group. He holds a bachelor’'s degree
in Finance from Cass Business School, London, the United
Kingdom. Mr. Jiang is the son of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Chairman
and executive Director and the sole director of Praise Fortune
Limited, controlling shareholder of the Company, and brother of
Mr. Jiang Xin, a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Fan Yajun, aged 48, is an executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed as Director of the Company
in March 2007. He has more than 20 years of experience
in business management. He joined the Group in July 2002
and has been responsible for the overall administration and
business management. He completed a Master of Business
Administration course at Southeast University in July 2004. For
the period between August 1999 and August 2005, he was
an executive director of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Wing Lee, aged 76, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since
December 2007. He is the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and also a
member of the Audit Committee. He has been the managing
director of Shenzhen Beishen Environmental Packaging
Development Co., Limited, which is mainly engaged in the sales
and manufacture of EP packaging products, since August 2005.
He graduated from the South China Institute of Technology (now
known as South China University of Technology) in 1965. He
has over 30 years of experience in enterprise management.

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, aged 53, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
since December 2007. He is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. He has over 20 years’
working experience in, among others, accounting, treasury
management, budgeting and corporate finance. He graduated
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a professional
diploma in Accountancy and obtained a master’'s degree in
business administration from the University of South Australia.
He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of Certified
General Accountants’ Association of Canada. From 2005 to
2007, he served as the financial controller, qualified accountant
and company secretary of Xiwang Sugar Holdings Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From 2001 to date, he has been a director
of a company providing accounting, tax and corporate finance
services. From 1999 to 2001, he held key financial position in
a listed company in Hong Kong. From 1998 to 1999, he was
a finance director of a company principally engaged in the
provision of network infrastructure solutions. From 1993 to
1998, he was the financial controller of a company principally
engaged in property investment, trading and securities. From
1987 to 1990, he worked in international accounting firms
handling audit, tax and accounting matters. Mr. Leung has been
an independent non-executive director of Xiwang Special Steel
Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange since February 2012.
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Professor Wang Guozhen, aged 80, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company since
December 2007. He is a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. From
October 1980 to 2004, Professor Wang was the chairperson
of the Environment Protection Specialist Commission of the
Chinese Society of Rare Earths and he became a consultant
after 2004. He was from 1994 to 2005, a member of the Rare
Earth Expert Group of China State Planning and Development
Commission, and the team leader of the Industry Division.
Professor Wang was appointed as an Expert of the Expert
Group of the Association of China Rare Earth Industry on 8
April 2014. He graduated from the Department of Chemical
Engineering of Tianjin University with a major in physical
chemistry of metals. He was an independent director of the
State-owned Gansu Rare Earth Group Co., Ltd. from 2005
to December 2012. On 1 August 2012, Professor Wang was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of China
Rare Earth Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From 1 December 2012
to 10 September 2015, he was appointed as an independent
director of Lianyungang Ligang Rare Earth Industrial Co., Ltd.
On 26 January 2013, Professor Wang was appointed as an
independent director of Shenghe Resources Holding Co. Ltd,
the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
On 13 March 2015, he was appointed as senior expert
consultant of rare earth projects of China Enfi Engineering
Corporation for a period of three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent, aged 42, is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of the Company. He joined the
Group in March 2007 and is responsible for the corporate
finance function of the Group. He oversees matters relating
to financial administration, and compliance and reporting
obligations of the Group. Mr. Wan has more than 15 years’
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wan has worked for a company
listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange as its financial
controller from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Wan is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wan holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

EENREREEE

FEE2HET 80 B _TTLF+=
RFREZTARNRRZEBIIFENITES -
BABIEES RLZEGRFTMEE
@7HKE - B—NWN\ZEE+AE -_ZTZM
F o OIHRATERIEBESRREELS
evFETEE  R_ZEZENFRETARA
e R —NANNFEE ST HFHEA
FREBREMERZESH LTERAZ
KB WEFEXAEAER THER=-Z
—NFEMNANBEZTATBE® 1TER
BERHEER - FEENRKEREBLET
BRE ZEeBYEtE - Fa_2%H
FRE-_ZT——_F+_ALAHBLEY
EH LM RGO ERAR ZBIES -
RZE——FN\A—H ITHEREZTAE
PR SRR AR A A (E AR mA B 2 B
FREM) Z2BIIEBTEE - B _F—
—E+-A—RAZE-_ZE—RFENATAH -
NEZTAREEEEEBRLIEEXEGRAT
ZEBNEE - R_E—=F—A =1+
A THREZEABMERIZBRRNE
RAR (ERMHREEEFR S LE™M)
7HEVEE R_E—FRF=A+=H"
HEZTATRAFEIREMER QAN
THEEZERERER  BH=F -

mREHER

BEEEE - 4257 0 ARFI 2P BBER
NEWE - FR -_TT+E= AMNAKRE
B BEAEEZOEMEIDRM - HEE
P EEAMEENEEAEBZARSE
BERBITE®REMT - BALEEER - 25F
NEASEIR S EMER B15FEH - RIA
RNEBR  BEAN - ZETHREE-TE
tEE—ZIRIINREBEERSH LT ZA
AT SR8 - BEEAI AT B SR
GZEE RTAERBEEBEIRESS
B BB .

29



Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * ;2B R EEERA A

Directors and Senior Management
EENEREEE

Mr. Huang Wei, aged 32, is the vice general manager of
Wuxi Pan Asia Environmental Protection Technologies Limited
("Wuxi Pan-Asia"). He has about 10 years of experience in EP
technology. He joined the Group in 2010 and is responsible
for the WWCB division. Before joining the Group, he was
a technical manager of Jiangsu Yuansheng Environmental
Protection Equipment Co, Limited. He graduated from Xuzhou
Normal University, majoring in computer numerical control
machining technology.

Mr. Ji Hongwei, aged 45, is the vice general manager of Wuxi
Pan-Asia. He has more than 10 years of experience in sales
and project management. He joined the Group in 2003 and is
responsible for sales and marketing of WWCB. Before joining
the Group, he was a sales manager of Yixing Xingda Catalyst
Factory. He graduated from Dapu Middle School in Yixing City.

Mr. Wu Dongping, aged 33, is the financial controller of Wuxi
Pan-Asia. He has about 10 years of experience in financial
management. He joined the Group in May 2014. Before joining
the Group, he was a finance manager of Yixing AGC Ceramics
Company Limited. He graduated from the Huaiyin Institute of
Technology, majoring in accountancy.

Mr. Shen Mingming, aged 60, is the manager of the
administration and human resource department of Wuxi
Pan-Asia. He joined the Group in 2010 and is responsible
for the daily management of the Group’s human resource,
administration and logistics services. Before joining the Group,
he worked as deputy general director in Investment Invitation
Bureau of Yixing, the PRC. He graduated from Jiangsu Radio
and TV University majoring in industrial economy management.

Ms. Sun Ying, aged 34, is the manager of the business
development department of Wuxi Pan-Asia. She joined the
Group in 2003 and is responsible for the business development
and business management. She graduated from Yangzhou
University majoring in economy management.
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The Board is pleased to submit their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has
its principal place of business in the PRC at No. 1 Chuanshan
Road, Dingshu Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, PRC
214222 and its principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Suite 6302, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the sale of pipes, water
treatment and flue gas treatment products and equipment, as
well as undertaking of EP construction engineering projects and
manufacture and sales of EP construction materials in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out on pages 9 to 15 of
the annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BARFP

Five largest customers in aggregate AREFHEET
The largest supplier =AM FERE
Five largest suppliers in aggregate h R ER AT

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any shareholders of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers.
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Percentage of
the Group’s total

HFEEEHBEzas L
Revenue Purchases
A 2] ]
15.8% -
53.9% -
- 50.0%
- 77.5%
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profits of the Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2015 and the state of the Company’s and the
Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 48 to 53.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, before
dividends, of RMB69,860,000 (2014: RMB28,357,000) have
been transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves are
set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2015, the distributable reserve of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB762,252,000 (2014:
RMB785,935,000 (restated)).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the financial year are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the financial year are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings as at 31 December 2015 are set
out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Lei (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fan Yajun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lai Wing Lee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

Professor Wang Guozhen
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Mr. Jiang Quanlong retires from the office as executive Director
and Mr. Lai Wing Lee retires from the office as independent
non-executive Director at the forthcoming AGM in accordance
with article 108(A) of the Articles of Association and all retiring
directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director or
officer of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs and damages which he may incur or sustain in
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. Such provision is in force during the year under review
and as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the information disclosed in “Related Party
Transactions” in note 34 to the financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at
the end of 2015, and there was no contract of significance
between the Company or a subsidiary of the Company with the
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year
under review.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2015.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (“SFQ”)) as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
were as follows:

(a) Interests in shares and underlying shares of the
Company
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(a) RARARGREEARND 2 #EH

Approximate

Name of Director

EEgA

Mr. Jiang Quanlong
BRELE

Mr. Jiang Lei
?EE%@E

Mr. Fan Yajun
BRERE

Mr. Lai Wing Lee
EhSilbtad

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

REF L

Professor Wang Guozhen

TEZHER

Nature of interest

BEME

Interest of controlled

corporation
ZEHEEE R
Beneficial interest
EaniEn

Interest of controlled

corporation
XS EEE R
Beneficial interest
EmtEn
Beneficial interest

N

\mm
|
L
Fmgl

H

neficial interest
I

neﬁcial interest
i

neficial interest

L4 e
o

S

E\

ef|C|a| interest
wiE

mit 0wt )Uﬂill} @ )Uﬂill}

3

Equity percentage

derivatives of issued

Number of (share option) share capital

shares held BASTEIR EERITRE

BERGEA (BRwE) ZHABSE

(Note 1)  (Notes 1 and 4)
(Hfit1) (BieE1k4)

606,568,000 (L) 72.21%
(Note 2)
(Hzt2)

400,000 (L) 0.05%

606,568,000 (L) 72.21%
(Note 3)
(H7£3)

582,000 (L) 0.07%

400,000 (L) 0.05%

5,000,000 (L) 0.60%

1,000,000 (L) 0.12%

1,000,000 (L) 0.12%

1,000,000 (L) 0.12%
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(b)

Interests in shares of the associated corporation of the (b)
Company
Name of
associated
Name of Director Nature of Interest corporation
EEnE REmME B EE RS

Mr. Jiang Quanlong

Interest of spouse

Praise Fortune

BREESLE ot Limited

Mr. Jiang Lei Beneficial interest Praise Fortune
Bkt BEatEn Limited
Notes:

1.

The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the
shares/underlying shares.

These 606,568,000 shares were registered in the name of
and beneficially owned by Praise Fortune Limited. Mr. Jiang
Quanlong is the sole director of Praise Fortune Limited and
he was deemed to be interested in all the shares in which
Praise Fortune Limited was interested by virtue of the SFO.

These 606,568,000 shares were registered in the name of
and beneficially owned by Praise Fortune Limited. The total
number of issued shares in Praise Fortune Limited as at 31
December 2015 was 601 shares of US$1 each. Mr. Jiang
Lei held 300 shares being approximately 49.92% in Praise
Fortune Limited and was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Praise Fortune Limited under the SFO.

These interests represent the interests in underlying shares
in respect of share options granted by the Company to these
Directors as beneficial owners, the details of which are set
out in the Share Option Scheme section stated below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, so far as
was known to any Director or chief executive of the Company,
neither the Directors nor the chief executive had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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1L 0.16%

300 (L) 49.92%

FEHILIRKREERRG /EE
Bip 2R -

#% 606,568,0000% A% 1 MAPraise
Fortune LimitedZz % % & &2 I A
HERZHA - BREELLE HPraise
Fortune LimitedZ ME—E= % - 1RIE
BHEMBEKRD  BHREABES
Praise Fortune Limited AT B %5
K2 AR 2 fE e o

#% $606,568,0000% f% 17 MAPraise
Fortune Limitedz % &5 &
E25¥EA ° Praise Fortune Limited
W-_ZE—HE+_A=+—RH02~
BEITIRMLE A0 - BE
B13E T © ¥ % 5 & ¥ B 300/ ik
3 (B149{5Praise Fortune Limited
2 EE BTN 249.92%)  BIE
BELBEED  BWEAERE
Praise Fortune Limitedff#: 8 2 A%
MRS ©

ZERBEARRMAEHES (1F
REZFEN) BREBRERS &
PAERA R DR - BRFBEERT
X EBR R

R-ZE—HF+_A=+

—B RARRENEEIESTHRAE
PR BEEERNRSTBRAENARF]
SEMEARER (ERREHFRERK
FIFEXVER) ZAEM R ~ BRI K ES
FREAEMERIOAR



SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”), details of which are set
out in Note 31 to the financial statements. Details of
the share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and their movements during the year ended

31 December 2015 were as follows:

Exercise

Price

per

Date of share

Directors Grant BR

Bz b e

HK$

AT

Mr. Jiang Quanlong 14/5/2008 2.81
BREXE

Mr. Jiang Lei 14/5/2008 2.81

BEEE

Mr. Fan Yajun 14/5/2008 2.81
TRELE

11/6/2012 0.83

Mr. Lai Wing Lee 14/5/2008 2.81
BAMEL

11/6/2012 0.83

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny  14/5/2008 2.81

11/6/2012 0.83

Vesting
Period
HRH

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009
11/6/2012 to
10/6/2013
14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009
11/6/2012 to
10/6/2013
4/5/2008 to
3/5/2009
1/6/2012 to
0

1
1
1
10/6/2013

Exercise
Period
g

14/5/2009 to
13/6/2018

14/5/2009 to
13/6/2018

14/5/2009 to
13/6/2018
11/6/2013 to
10/6/2022

14/5/2009 to
13/6/2018
11/6/2013 to
10/6/2022

14/5/2009 to
13/6/2018
11/6/2013 to
10/6/2022
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Number of Share Options

BREHE

Exercised/
Cancelled/ Balance
Balance Lapsed as at
as at during  31/12/2015
1/1/2015 Granted the year R®
R® during RER —B-1%
—E-1% theyear BT/ T8
-B-H RER BHH/ =t-H
2 ERit BXN a3
400,000 - - 400,000
400,000 - - 400,000
2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
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Exercise
Price
per
Date of share  Vesting Exercise
Directors Grant Bl Period Period
B2 REAE 168 BES cd s
HK$
BT
Professor Wang Guozhen 14/5/2008 2.81  14/5/2008to  14/5/2009 to
TEVHE 18/6/2009 13/5/2018
11/6/2012 0.83 11/6/2012t0  11/6/2013 to
10/6/2013 10/6/2022
Continuous contract 14/5/2008 2.81  14/5/2008 to  14/5/2009 to
employees 13/5/2009 13/5/2018
RU&HER 11/6/2012 083 11/6/2012t0  11/6/2013 1o
10/6/2013 10/6/2022
Total
#it

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company or any of its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, no equity-

linked agreements were entered into by the Company, or
existed during the year under review.
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Number of Share Options

BRESE
Exercised/

Cancelled/ Balance
Balance Lapsed as at
as at during  31/12/2015
1/1/2015 Granted the year i
R® during RER —B-1%
ZB-TF  theyear B/ T4
-A-8 RER B/ =t-H
i ERE 2AN a3
500,000 - - 500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
8,800,000 - - 8,800,000
9,000,000 - - 9,000,000
28,500,000 - - 28,500,000
37,500,000 - - 37,500,000
46,300,000 - - 46,300,000
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors and chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2015, the following persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
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EENERTRABMA  THAL (K
RAEFRESTHRABRI) RART]
Z B RARRE R D P R A RIERE 5 M
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=
KEWT -

RAEXTRMD RERERD 2 E

Company

Name

=L

Praise Fortune Limited

Mr. Jiang Xin
BaLst

Ms. Qian Yuanying (Note 3)
BLEL (Wi73)

Ms. Li Jingru (Note 4)
ZEML L (HiF4)

Ms. Chai Yongping (Note 5)
okt (Hizs)

Nature of interest

BEME

Beneficial interest

PRV R
Bl

Interest of controlled corporation

REtAEER

Beneficial interest
EnfEn

Interest of spouse
[T

Interest of spouse
[T

Interest of spouse
[T

Interest of spouse
[T

Interest of spouse
[T

Number of
shares held
iR EE

(Note 1)
(HizE1)
606,568,000 (L)
606,568,000 (L)
(Note 2)
(Hfi#2)

2,000,000 (L)

606,568,000 (L)

608,568,000 (L)

607,150,000 (L)

Approximate

Equity percentage of
derivatives issued share
(share option) capital
BRASTETA HEBRITRE
(BhkE) ZBRBEDL

(Note 1)
(Brat1)
72.21%
72.21%
0.24%
72.21%
400,000 (L) 0.05%
72.45%
72.28%
400,000 (L) 0.05%
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Notes:

The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares/
underlying shares.

These shares were registered in the name of and beneficially
owned by Praise Fortune Limited. The total number of issued
shares in Praise Fortune Limited as at 31 December 2015 was 601
shares of US$1 each. These 601 shares were owned as to 300
shares being approximately 49.92% by Mr. Jiang Lei, an executive
Director, 300 shares being approximately 49.92% by Mr. Jiang Xin
and 1 share being approximately 0.16% by Ms. Qian Yuanying.
The sole director of Praise Fortune Limited is Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
an executive Director. Under the SFO, Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Jiang
Xin and Mr. Jiang Quanlong were deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Praise Fortune Limited.

Ms. Qian Yuanying is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong and was
therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares and underlying
shares in which Mr. Jiang Quanlong was deemed to be interested.

Ms. Li Jingru is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Xin and was therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jiang Xin
was deemed to be interested.

Ms. Chai Yongping is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Lei and was
therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares and underlying
shares in which Mr. Jiang Lei was deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the
Company has not been notified by any person (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the service contracts of the Directors
or any person engaged in the full-time employment of the
Company, concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Year.
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COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

Non-Competition Undertaking

Under the restrictive covenants of a share purchase agreement
dated 1 December 2007 executed among (i) YY Holdings as
vendor, (i) Praise Fortune Limited, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Ms.
Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin as covenantors,
and (i) the Company as the purchaser, each of Praise Fortune
Limited, Ms. Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Mr. Jiang
Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin (collectively the “Covenantors”) has
undertaken that he/she/it will not and shall procure his/her/its
close associates will not:

(@)

at any time disclose to any person, or himself/herself/
itself use for any purpose, and shall use his/her/its best
endeavours to prevent the publication or disclosure of, any
information concerning the business, accounts or finances
of any Group company, or any of its clients’, suppliers’
or customers’ transactions or affairs, which may, or may
have, come to his/her/its knowledge;

at any time during which the Company is listed on
the Stock Exchange and for so long as each of the
Covenantors and their respective close associates
collectively hold, whether individually or taken together,
30% or more of the issued shares or is regarded as the
controlling shareholder(s) of the Company under the
Listing Rules or for a period of two years from the date of
the Listing, whichever is the longest period of time:

(i) directly or indirectly solicit, interfere with, employ or
endeavour to entice away from any Group company
with a view to competing with the Group any
person who, to his/her/its knowledge, is now, or
has during the 12 months preceding the date of the
share purchase agreement been, a client, customer,
supplier or employee of, or has been in the habit of
dealing with, any Group company;

(i)  at any time use the name or trading style of any
Group company, or any trademarks or logos or
device similar in appearance to any trademarks, in
the PRC, Hong Kong or any other part of the world,
or represent himself as carrying on or continuing
or being connected with any Group company or its
business for any purposes whatsoever; and/or
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(i)  directly or indirectly carry on or be engaged or
concerned or interested in the businesses of (i)
the production of water treatment and flue gas
treatment and solid waste treatment equipment and
components and pipes; (ii) the sale and installation
of water treatment and flue gas treatment and solid
waste treatment equipment and pipes; and (iii) the
contracting of water treatment and flue gas treatment
and solid waste treatment projects, being the current
principal businesses of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors has undertaken in favour of the
Company under the share purchase agreement to procure the
provision to the Company of all information necessary for the
enforcement of the above undertaking. Each of the Covenantors
further undertakes in favour of the Company to make a
statement in the annual report of the Company confirming
compliance by it and its affiliates with the terms of the non-
competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement.
The Company has received the confirmation in relation to
compliance by them and their affiliates with the terms of the
non-competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed that he/she/it is not
currently engaged in any business, which directly or indirectly
competes or may compete with the Group’s business.

Benxi Fanya Environmental Heat & Power Co., Ltd. (“Benxi
Fanya”) is owned as to 49% by Asia Global Tech Group
Limited (“AGT (HK)”), and as to 51% by Benxi (Asia) Thermal
Technology Company Limited (“Benxi Asia”) (beneficially
owned as to 90% and 10% by Ms. Qian Yuanying (the spouse
of Mr. Jiang Quanlong) and Mr. Fan Xinyang (son of Mr. Fan
Yajun)). AGT (HK) is beneficially owned as to 54%, 18%, 18%
and 10% by Ms. Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Jiang Xin
(both of whom are sons of Mr. Jiang Quanlong) and Mr. Fan
Xinyang respectively. The permitted business scope on the
business licence of Benxi Fanya includes, among others, heat
supply, electricity generation, operation and construction of
pipeline. As at the date of this annual report, Benxi Fanya was
principally engaged in generating electricity and heat, and was
not engaged or interested in any businesses which compete
with the current principal businesses of the Group. Jiangsu
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Tianyuan Technologies Limited (“Jiangsu Tianyuan”) is owned
by the associates of Mr. Fang Guohong, a former executive
Director of the Company who resigned on 25 March 2009. The
permitted business scope on the business licence of Jiangsu
Tianyuan includes, among others, research and development
of denitrification EP equipment and technology, manufacture
of FGD EP equipment, desulphurization absorption tower
and flue glass flake anticorrosive material and denitrification
EP equipment. As at the date of this annual report, Jiangsu
Tianyuan was principally engaged in the business of producing
thermal insulation components, and was not engaged or
interested in any businesses which compete with the current
principal businesses of the Group. The permitted scope of
business of each of Benxi Fanya and Jiangsu Tianyuan is
relatively wide, but it is not unusual for a corporate entity
to provide for a broader scope of business in its corporate
documents to allow for flexibility. At present, neither Benxi Fanya
nor Jiangsu Tianyuan has any plan to vary their respective
business licences to exclude or alter the permitted activities as
set out therein.

Mr. Jiang Quanlong is also the chairman and one of the
executive directors of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited
(“CRE”), a company whose securities are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. CRE and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of rare earth
products and refractory products. As the Group’s principal
business is to provide integrated EP solutions in areas such as
water and flue gas treatments, the current principal businesses
of the Group and those of CRE and its subsidiaries do not
compete with each other.

Under the restrictive covenants of several service agreements
dated 1 December 2007 between the Company and each of the
executive Directors, the executive Directors gave undertakings
similar to the wordings stated in paragraph (b) above of the said
share purchase agreement.

The independent non-executive Directors shall review, at least
on an annual basis, the compliance with the non-competition
undertaking by each of such persons on their existing or future
competing business and the Company shall disclose the result
of such review either through the annual report of the Company,
or by way of announcement to the public. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed the
compliance by each of such persons with the non-competition
undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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As the controlling shareholders namely, Praise Fortune Limited,
Mr. Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin and Mr. Jiang Quanlong as
the sole director of Praise Fortune Limited have given non-
competition undertakings in favour of the Company and none of
them has interests in other business that compete or are likely
to compete with the business of the Group, the management
and operation of the operating entities are independent from
each other. The Directors are of the view that the Group
is capable of carrying on its business independently of the
controlling shareholders.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 176 of
the annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The retirement schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries are
primarily in form of contributions to the Hong Kong mandatory
provident fund and China statutory public welfare fund.
Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out in note 7 to
the financial statements.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to the shares,
they are advised to consult an expert.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31
December 2012 was audited by CCIF CPA Limited. Due to the
merger of business with PCP CPA Limited resulting in Crowe
Horwath (HK) CPA Limited operating as the merged firm, CCIF
CPA Limited retired as auditor of the Company with effect from
6 June 2013. Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited was appointed
as auditor of the Company to hold office until the conclusion of
next annual general meeting.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 have been audited by Crowe Horwath (HK)
CPA Limited. Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

By order of the Board
Jiang Quanlong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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Crowe Horwath.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF PAN ASIA ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (“the Company”)
and its subsidiaries set out on pages 48 to 175, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2015, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2016

Sze Wing Chun
Practising Certificate Number PO6035
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

Continuing operations:
Revenue
Cost of sales and services rendered

Gross profit

Other income

Other net (loss)/gain

Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

Profit before taxation

Income tax expenses

Profit for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinued operations:
Profit/(loss) for the year from
discontinued operations

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

for the year (after tax and
reclassification adjustments)

Item that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss:

- Exchange differences on translation

of financial statements to
presentation currency

Total comprehensive income
for the year
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2015 2014

1% —EmEF

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BEE AR®TT ARBTTT
(Restated)

(E%))

4 1,068,593 577,533
(823,354) (421,269)

245,239 156,264

4 18,089 3,429
4 (905) 38
(62,805) (13,789)
(44,797) (45,352)
(55,528) (38,093)

8 99,293 62,497
7(a) (32,472) (22,901)
66,821 39,596

6 1,996 (16,193)
68,817 23,403

167 (99)

68,984 23,304
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Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
owners of the Company arises from:
- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operations

Loss for the year attributable to

non-controlling interests arises from:

- Continuing operations
— Discontinued operations

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic earnings/(loss) per share
- From continuing operations

- From discontinued operations

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
- From continuing operations
- From discontinued operations

The notes on pages 54 to 175 form

statements.

mEEERkEMZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
ZEZ—-58f —E—OF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BtsE AR¥TT ARETT
(Restated)
(E7)
FAFIHBABGERELT
BEEZERRT (FE) :
—RBECEER 66,821 39,596
— BRIEREER 3,039 (11,239)
69,860 28,357
FERRESEERAUTSE
HZEREE :
— BB - =
—BRIHEEER (1,043) (4,954)
(1,043) (4,954)
68,817 23,403
UFALEEERARE
Ba (FiR) @8 :
S YNGIEZ=PN 70,027 28,258
— JEIERR RS (1,043) (4,954)
68,984 23,304
RMB cents RMB cents
AR#%S ARES
sEEH (FB) 12
SREFERT (FR)
— RAREKEER 7.96 4.84
— REERIEREER 0.36 (1.37)
8.32 3.47
SERBERA (HH)
— REARBEEEER 7.83 4.74
—REBRIEEEER 0.36 (1.35)
8.19 3.39

part of these financial F54E R FIT5E WA B AT KRR Z
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As at 31 December 2015
R-ZF-HAF+-A=+—H

s RLRREBERRAT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Prepaid lease payments B EFE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE
Available-for-sale financial asset AHHESHEE
Prepayments for consultation, B MHEER
marketing and promotional services XY SN
Trade receivables with EEREEHZ
extended credit terms JEWE 5 5k IE
Deferred tax assets ELERIBEE
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Prepaid lease payments BAIHAEFIE
Inventories ="E
Trade and other receivables W E 5 R E M RIE
Pledged bank deposits SHERETER
Tax recoverable G EL
Cash and bank balances B RiR1THES
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENRE
Trade and other payables BN E 5 REMRIE
Short-term bank loans RHERITE R
Deposits received and receipts Bz S MIERER
in advance
Tax payable FER IR
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEERE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS RESERTHAR
CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FrnBaR
Deferred tax liabilities BTG E
Deferred government grants BT B
NET ASSETS EERE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B 2 B G 0
Share capital PR
Reserves 1
Equity attributable to owners FAFIHEABGESR
of the Company
Non-controlling interests FRERRES
TOTAL EQUITY Eous

The consolidated financial statements on pages 48 to 175 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
30 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Quanlong HEREE
Director =

The notes on pages 54 to 175 form part of these financial
statements.
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2015 2014
—E-1F —ZF—n

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt AR®BFT ARETT

13 52,146 53,339

14 428,836 451,690

15 - 9,000

16 83,300 130,000

19 112,744 =

27(b) 6,192 =

683,218 644,029

13 1,194 1,195

18 238,605 244,270

19 606,979 506,684

33 6,543 6,543

27(a) 50,004 20,001

21 275,964 379,236

1,179,289 1,157,929

22 187,553 176,795

23 - 14,000

331,329 337,347

27(a) 10,888 10,888

529,770 539,030

649,519 618,899

1,332,737 1,262,928

27(b) (24,105) (18,202)

28 (4,051) (4,709)

(28,156) (22,911)

1,304,581 1,240,017

29 78,073 78,073

30 1,226,508 1,170,242

1,304,581 1,048,315

- (8,298)

1,304,581 1,240,017
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE-F-AF+-A=+—ALFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FOTHAAES
Enterprise  Statutory Share Non-
Share Share  Special  Capital expansion  surplus Translation ~ option Retained controlling Total

capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Subtotal interests equity
Rt BOER HHUER ROGR CRARRMEEERGR ERER BREGR REE Mt FRBEE H&EE
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARBTn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note 29) - (Note 30() (Note 30(if) (Note 30(i)) (Note 30(v)) (Note 30(v)) (Note 30(vi) (Note 30(vil)
(Biko0)  (MfsEa0) (WHsEaofi) Makaofi) (WHskaon) (Wiakson)) (KisEaopd) (Mtaowi))

As at 1 January 2014 W=F-ME-A-A 74872 419229 94225 183 46706 55079  (8962) 19,504 467,155 1,169,241 (8,344) 1,165,897

Profitoss) for the year £l /(B - - - = = = = - 837 3% (494 23408
Other comprehensiveloss 42 EEH
- Exchange differences - REBB AR
on translation of financial ~ Z27 ik aEE 7
statements to presentation ~ EXEE

currency = = = - = = (99) = - (99 - 99

Total comprehensive ERZE

income/(oss) for the year Uiz /(B58) 68 = = - - - - (%9) - BT B %N 2304
Transfer to retained profs SRR E A

upon lapse of share options ~ EAZREZEF = - - - - - - (1w 191 - B .
Transfer to reserves BROEE - - - - 5,748 5,748 - - (11,49) - - -
Issue of new orinary shares 75 E @I (#i229)

(Note 29) 3,201 48,976 - - - - - - - 5177 - 52,177

e

Transaction costs attributable /75 & @REN
toissue of new ordinary — RBAA (29
shares (Note 29) - (1,361) - - - - - - - (1,361) - (1,361)

Asat 31 December 2014 ~ R-F-[E
and 1 January 2015 t-R=+-BR
“3-1F-A-H 78073 466,844 94,205 133 52,454 61,727 (8661) 17592 485928 1248315 (8,298) 1,240,017

Prof/foss)for e year R/ (tR) - - - - - - - - 69860 69860 (1043 68817
Other comprehensive income 12 Elkiz
- Exchange differences - MERERR
on translation of financial  Z27|EEEEZ
statements to presentation B EH

currency - - - - - - 167 - - 167 - 167
Total comprehensive ERNZE
income/[oss) for the year Wiz /(B5%8) 38 - - - - - - 167 - 69860 70027 (1,043 68,984
Dividends paid (Note 1(b) ~ ERRE (#2/1) - - - - - - - - (18761)  (13,761) - (13761)
Transfer to reserves SRZRE - - - - 8865 8865 - - 130 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries LEMBAR (Hita0)
(Note 40) - - - (133) - - - - 133 .M 94
Asat 31 December 2016~ R=F-1F
+=A=1-H 8073 466844 94,205 - 61319 70592 (8494 17592 524430 1,304,581 - 1,304,581

The notes on pages 54 to 175 form part of these financial FESABEF1T5B L HEB AU MK
statements. —E2Bn o
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited ¢ jZ R R{REBHR A T

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—Z-1F —T—-mF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
(i AR®TT ARBT T
(Restated)
(&%)
Operating activities BEED
Profit for the year B AR 68,817 23,403
Adjustments for: HE
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BB NEERE 1,194 1,195
Depreciation of property, ME  BENREZITE
plant and equipment 27,292 28,919
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR Z A 40 (5,150) -
Gain on disposals of property, HENE  BER
plant and equipment A=Al UN - (81)
Government grants BUS# B (936) (908)
Impairment loss on trade receivables W 508 2 REEE 23,116 23,944
Impairment loss on other receivables Hith e IB 2 R EE R 2,784 -
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AN ESCREEZ
financial asset HEEE 9,000 -
Income tax FrigHi 32,479 22,939
Interest expenses FMEFXZ 666 1,004
Interest income | EHA (1,519) (2,187)
Imputed interest on trade JEE SIE 2
receivables HEF SWA (3,947) -
Loss on write-off of property, plant MEEME - BE X
and equipment R EE - 13
Reversal of impairment loss JEWE 5 FIE 2
on trade receivables HEFERED (11,590) (161)
Reversal of impairment loss HAth R IR 2
on other receivables HEBEED (380) (343)
141,826 97,767
Changes in working capital EEERED
Increase in inventories FEE M (77,262) (146,905)
Increase in trade and FEWE 5 I E A SRIR I AN
other receivables (463,896) (28,055)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments B MBHEER
for consultation, marketing and B ERB BN R
promotional services w3 ) 90,743 (216,500
Increase in trade and e B 5 R AR FRIRE N
other payables 66,086 810
Increase in deposits received Btz e R IBUGRIE N
and receipts in advance 226,709 185,619
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Cash used in operations

PRC Enterprises Income Tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Net cash outflows from disposal of
subsidiaries

Dividends paid

Payments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from government grants

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment

Decrease in pledged bank deposits

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities
Interest paid
Proceeds from issue of new ordinary
shares

Payment for transaction costs attributable

to issue of new ordinary shares
Repayment of short-term bank loan

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year

Analysis of the balance of cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances

The notes on pages 54 to 175 form part of these financial

statements.

Annual Report 2015 ¢ —ZF— A FFR

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

— Ao~ — 1
mEHEMER
For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—EZ—-58f =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEE AR¥TT ARETT
(Restated)
(E7)
BEXBRAZRS (15,794) (107,264)
BB EREH 27(a) (62,771) (32,169)
BETHMAZESSHE (78,565) (139,433)
REED
EUFIE 1,519 2,187
HEHBRRZ
BemtFE 40 (873) =
BERE 11(b) (13,761) =
BEWE - BERRENK
(6,353) (114,413)
BT B ET S 508 278 5,617
HEDE  BEK
REFTE A - 175
BIEMIRITEZR D - 4,073
BREFTHMACE&BH (19,190) (102,361)
EER
EATFIE (666) (1,004)
BT RS TE
29 - 52,177
XA EATHN L AR A
R BA 29 - (1,361)
BEEHRITER (5,000) =
MEEH (FRA), Bz
&R (5,666) 49,812
FEERER
ERABELEARYBHE (103,421) (191,982)
FMZzREeRERRLER
379,236 571,326
SEEEETZNERA
149 (108)
FRZBAGREAHALER
275,964 379,236
HeREAREEBEESH
B KBTS 21 275,964 379,236
F54EEF175B ZHIEB AT BRE 2
—E2B1n o
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited ¢ jZ R R{REBHR A T

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 55 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015

HE

54

“E-RFTA=+—HIEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
and registered in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands and
Suite 6302, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong, respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of
environmental protection (“EP”) products and equipment,
undertaking of EP construction engineering projects, and
manufacture and sales of EP construction materials in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and investment
holding.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CO”). These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

—REH

wIhEREREBEER AR (ERR
A RFAEHEFMK A —FH
BHeBR AR - ERODNE B
ERXRGMER AR ([BRFT)) £
Me ARRAZAMPEREREES
3 Hb Bt 5iF 5 Bl ACricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands &2 &8 2 f5 N8 F99%: I8
FLNB302E ©

RKRBREWBRR (il IAE
B TEEPEARAME (T4
B ®ERE ((RR]) EmERE
ZEERHE  ABERRERIR
HE  URHENHERRESEY
FHAR I E 2R -

FEEHHE
a) SIREBH

HERBRREBRBEE LS

frg((EEgstMog]l)
Bz B EREABMBERE
ER (B BRE L)
(WTHBEMEERZENE
AR ELER - BB
Al (B e &R ki
ZEHHE)  BREERBRMNEF
[RRIREE R BRG] (T2 RHE
1) BRZEEREMRE -
Itk 55 B 755 ¥R 3R 7T 38 <7 B X2 P RE
FEMRATETHRED Z
EREBERTE - AEBERRZ
ETRSHERRBEHINLT ©



Annual Report 2015 ¢ —ZF— A FFR

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

a)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) regarding preparation of
accounts and directors’ reports and audits became
effective for the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2015. Further, the disclosure
requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding
annual accounts have been amended with reference
to the new CO and to streamline with HKFRSs.
Accordingly, the presentation and disclosure of
information in these financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015 have been
changed to comply with these new requirements.
Comparative information in respect of the financial
year ended 31 December 2014 are presented or
disclosed in these financial statements based on the
new requirements. Information previously required
to be disclosed under the predecessor CO or the
Listing Rules but not under the new CO or amended
Listing Rules are not disclosed in these financial
statements.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs which are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

2. FESHE (&)

a)

SHRES (F)

FEB ARG (F622F) B
HARAEREREZTGRERE
BZENEHARTEHEZST
—HEE+-_A=+—HIt8
BERER - Bbo - ETE A
FIEAEERERE cHBHRT
B2EHM RGO MIEET - I
FE U R A B T s A AR S
—H Al BE_T—RHF
+_A=+—BUHBFEZ
LERFREANZERZ R
WEE FERAETHSHE
o BHEBE—_T—NF+=
A=+—RHLEFBRFEZLE
BERERIBEH RN E 0%
WMARANE2HHIFE - RIBATH
A AMERFI Sk _ETTAR B AR B
T FREAR IR I A B HI S48
B EmRABEAERE &
B FRERAMBEHRETE
BERE -

BB RHMAREEHETH
S RAEETE BN BREE
Al - AR B A 3 R
A 4R AR - B
HORM T EMEREA RS
TR T8 B AR B 75 9 P9
OGRS P B
B R HARI MY AT (@ 3R
SHHER -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 55 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

2.

56

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2015 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except for certain financial instruments, which
are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 39.

2.

FEEBE (8)

b)

MBHRR 2 mREE

HE_Z—AF+-_RA=+—
BLEFEGAUEHRERBIE
AR N E KB A R 2 B S R
i‘go

BATEERER 2 AR BT LA TR S A AR
FRrEEE  ETERMTA
UARFEAERN (BTXE
TBCRPTEEE) -

mAETABBMBRELEDZ
MHmEk BEEEFELAH
B EETAIRER - ZFHE
st REBERE G ERR 2B
URE/REE - BFE - WA
MXHZEBRBNTE - %F
Bt R BRBRIREEER
BRERREXBATEEE
ZEREMARMIEL » HA
RERRHHEERAERT
BZER  MZEAEBRRE
AREEMARIRET - BERGER
AIRER B L F(hET

ZEMF RAERR GRS E
EREITRE - BT ETE
TIERTE - fMiEFT B &%
B BRI & RMER] il At 2
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BAHEARKGHE - AEarE
FIHIRE BRI B AR o

ERELEAENTEmEE
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Annual Report 2015 ¢ —ZF— A FFR

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between non-controlling interests and the
owners of the Company. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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2. FESHE (&)

c)

o) PACDSE 2290 £
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= [ ¥Ry - BIAN SR B il X
o MEH G IEHI#ES - B Al
Bz EEREETER

- o T

S o YRR RS

=

7P B 2 B 2 BB S R R
A BRI E 2 BIRET A
REMBHRE - KEREPER
ZHRBERZZ A K R B RES
RPEEZEMREF G -
DHERREGEMBRERE 28
i - REABXZAEEZ
B EE - BIEETERN
HIHARZ IR W R 2 AR -
BEFBIARNEAZRBR
EHIRBEZ D

FERBRIBELIFARAER
KA BB R Rz -
ek FEE - AREWAREZ
FEHEs A AHE T 8EIME
R EAREEEERZ SRS
MBELNEERABERLZA
MBI -

FERBRESRES M BRI EK
WO AR BERARFER
ABEERDFIIR o SRR
BERAKEXETAE 2
@ AR EEREMEEE
R WA SR B HE 2l BN X A
BREANSERNFERERRER
EHEBEBBEZTAIR - I
ZREE R B A ZER R E M
BERZEREAZANEARE
REFAMBRAKRINBSERME

5 o

57



Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited ¢ jZ R R{REBHR A T
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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2.

58

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset, or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or
joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 2(g)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, are
as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless it
is determined that the fair value at initial recognition
differs from the transaction price and that fair value is
evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for
an identical asset or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction
costs, except where indicated otherwise below.
These investments are subsequently accounted for
as follows, depending on their classification.

2.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d)

Other investments in equity securities (Continued)

Investments in securities held for trading are
classified as current assets. Any attributable
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
dividends or interest earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out in notes 2(s)(v) and 2(s)(iv).

Investments in securities which do not fall into
securities held for trading or held-to-maturity
securities are classified as available-for-sale financial
assets. At the end of each reporting period, the fair
value is remeasured with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the fair
value reserve. As an exception to this, investments
in equity securities that do not have a quoted price
in an active market for an identical instrument and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are
recognised in the statement of financial position at
cost less impairment losses (see note 2(g)). Dividend
income from equity securities is recognised in profit
or loss in accordance with the policy set out in note
2(s)(v).

When the investments are derecognised or impaired,
the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity
is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments or they
expire.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

e)

60

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(g)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives.

Over the shorter of the term
of the lease and 20 years

Buildings

Furniture, fixtures

and equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements 1 year to 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Molding 1 year
Plant and machineries 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

e)

f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a
series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the
Group determines that the arrangement conveys a
right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed
period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on
an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement
and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease.

i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as being held under finance leases. Leases
which do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group are
classified as operating leases, except for land
held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease,
is accounted for as being held under a finance
lease, unless the building is also clearly held
under an operating lease. For these purposes,
the inception of the lease is the time that the
lease was first entered into by the Group, or
taken over from the previous lessee.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Leased assets (Continued)
ii)  Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under
operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss in equal
instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged as expenses
in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

iii)  Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification
of each element as a finance or an operating
lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the land
and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in
the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease
payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of
financial position and is amortised over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Impairment of assets

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables

Investments in equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that
are stated at cost or amortised cost or are
classified as available-for-sale financial asset
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

= it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

= significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment
loss is determined and recognised as follows:

- For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset where the effect of
discounting is material. Impairment losses
for equity securities carried at cost are not
reversed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued)

i) Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (Continued)

— For trade receivables and other current
receivables and other financial assets
carried at amortised cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these assets), where
the effect of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively where
these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

ii)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except
for impairment losses recognised in respect
of debtors included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against debtors directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in
profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;
- prepaid lease payments; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial position.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued)
i) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

FESHE (&)

EERE (&)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued) 9)

W AMEERE (&

i) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses —  HERREEE

An impairment loss is recognised in profit Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂ%
or loss whenever the carrying amount of Zfﬁ$§i$EZ
an asset, or the cash-generating unit to BRE(E R AT K

which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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2.

68

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

h)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim Financial
Reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as
it would at the end of the financial year (see
notes 2(g)(i) and 2(g)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of available-for-sale financial
asset and unquoted equity securities carried at
cost are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of
the financial year to which the interim period
relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an
available-for-sale financial asset increases in the
remainder of the annual period, or in any other
period subsequently, the increase is recognised
in other comprehensive income and not profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

h)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are contracts specifically
negotiated with a customer for the construction of
an asset or a group of assets, where the customer is
able to specify the major structural elements of the
design. The accounting policy for contract revenue
is set out in note 2(s)(ii). When the outcome of a
construction contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract
at the end of the reporting period. When it is
probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised
as an expense immediately. Where the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

Construction contracts in progress at the end of
the reporting period are recorded at the net amount
of costs incurred plus recognised profits less
recognised losses and progress billings, and are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position as the “Amounts due from customers for
contract work” (as an asset) or the “Amounts due
to customers for contract work” (as a liability), as
applicable. Progress billings not yet paid by the
customer are included under “Trade and other
receivables”. Amounts received before the related
work is performed are presented as “Deposits
received and receipts in advance”.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)]

k)

m)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less allowance
for impairment of doubtful debts, except where
the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In
such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note

2(9)).

Prepayments for consultation, marketing and
promotional services

Prepayments for consultation, marketing and
promotional services are charged to profit or loss
when the services are rendered by the service
providers.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings, together with
any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n)

0)

9))

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new
ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction from the proceeds.

Employee benefits

i) Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

ii)  Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in share
option reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the
total estimated fair value of the share options
is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will
vest.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

p) Employee benefits (Continued)
ii)  Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve) except where forfeiture is only
due to not achieving vesting conditions that
relate to the market price of the Company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
share option reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option expires (when
it is released directly to retained profits).

iii) ~ Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

q)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

a)

74

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

a)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities
on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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2.

76

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r

s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit
or loss as follows:

i) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are
delivered which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the goods
and the related risks and rewards of ownership.
Revenue excludes value added tax and other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts, and returns.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s)  Revenue recognition (Continued)

ii)

iii)

Contract revenue

When the outcome of a construction contract
can be estimated reliably, revenue from a
fixed price contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the percentage of contract
costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract.

When the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.

Revenue from professional services

Revenue from professional services is
recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is
recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset to the asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s rights to
receive payment is established.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s)  Revenue recognition (Continued)
vi)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed. Where
the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to deferred government grants
account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

vii)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

viii) Imputed interest income

When the arrangement effectively constitutes
a financing transaction, the fair value of the
consideration is determined by discounting all
future receipts using an imputed rate of interest.
The imputed rate of interest is the prevailing
rate for a similar instrument of an issuer with
a similar credit rating. The difference between
the fair value and the nominal amount of the
consideration at initial recognition is recognised
in profit or loss. Imputed interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the imputed rate of
interest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

t)

Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). These
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand
except for per share data, which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) as the majority of the Group’s transactions is
denominated in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising
from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge
a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies stated at
fair value are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.
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2.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

t)

u)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of those entities within the Group
which have a functional currency other than RMB
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the translation
reserve.

On the disposal of any of such entities, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use
or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

v)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations,
or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It
also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell,
or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

w)

Related parties

a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

w) Related parties (Continued)

b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

Vi.

Vi,

viii.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in note 2(w)(a).

A person identified in note 2(w)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

X)

84

Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-
generated intangible assets is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible assets are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets that are acquired separately.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

y)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
Chairman of the board of directors, who is the
Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”),
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

2. ¥E®

y)

RTER (48)

7R E

RIEEMBRRZEED B R
ENREBZE BB EHA
AEECZEFEEIF AR
BrEEEERRAN(TERE
BARRAD BEADEEIR
KFHE RSB R XBER 2R
BRI B 2 B 75 B B R
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o ©
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee Benefits:
Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010 — 2012
Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2011 - 2013
Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19, Employee Benefits: Defined
Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

The amendments introduce a relief to reduce the
complexity of accounting for certain contributions from
employees or third parties under defined benefit plans.
When the contributions are eligible for the practical
expedient provided by the amendments, a company is
allowed to recognise the contributions as a reduction of
the service cost in the period in which the related service
is rendered, instead of including them in calculating the
defined benefit obligation. The amendments do not have
an impact on these financial statements as the Group
does not operate any defined benefit plans.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle and
2011-2013 Cycle

These two cycles of annual improvements contain
amendments to nine standards with consequential
amendments to other standards. Among them, HKAS 24,
Related Party Disclosures, has been amended to expand
the definition of “related party” to include a management
entity that provides key management personnel services
to the reporting entity, and to require the disclosure of
the amounts incurred for obtaining the key management
personnel services provided by the management entity.
These amendments do not have an impact on the Group’s
related party disclosures as the Group does not obtain any
key management personnel services from the management
entities.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER
NET (LOSS)/GAIN

Continuing operations:
Revenue

Revenue from continuing operations represents the fair
value of the amounts received and receivable for goods
sold, and revenue from construction contracts, which
excludes value-added and other sales taxes, and is after
deduction of any goods returns and trade discounts.

The amount of each significant category of revenue
recognised in revenue from continuing operations during
the year is as follow:

Sales of EP products and equipment

Sales of EP construction materials

Revenue from EP construction
engineering projects A

RREmMRBIHE
RIREEME 2 HE
KERFERIIZEAZ

4.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

Bt RREE (&)

FRMBREER (BRIR)[ =
—BEF_E——ERHR -
—FEE-=FBHPZFERE]

% MIRIE B 2 BUE B IR IS
AIZ1ERT - WHHHEMER 2R
BiEs] - B BASENFE24
SIBEB O REI & [FEB T
BAEEBHAREERRERIEZE
BAEBRBZEERARE  WAKE
BBEE R REEIEEEAER
BAELNRAX KA AAKEL
ARGEBRARMER 2 TEZERE
ABRT - MREFETHAKEN
MBI WBELEZE -

WA s RERR MR (F

KERFBELEXBE 2 WABAEE
EmMEESHRAMEEZC K
K EUWGRIEH) N8 - B HEIE
BN REMHEED - WA TR
BRENEZFH -

FRABZEHEERREFELEXH L
WARTERZ EBZHRIWALT

2015 2014
“S—-nF —T-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
(Restated)

(E7)

864,588 474,867
176,622 102,666
27,383 =
1,068,593 577,533
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER
NET (LOSS)/GAIN (Continued)

Continuing operations:
Other income H ik &
Interest income on bank deposits

Total interest income on financial
assets not at fair value through
profit or loss

TREEL

FREERY -

RITIFHRABUA

M BHA B

4.

WIEAFERBRARZ

Imputed interest on trade receivables  FEWE 5 FIE 2

(Note 19(b)) HER S (Ha19(0))
Rental income from operating lease KEMEEZHSWA
Government grants* B e

Reversal of impairment loss on trade
receivables

Sundry income HIBIA

& The amount included the government grants of
approximately RMB658,000 (2014: RMB658,000) relating
to the subsidies from the PRC government for acquisition
of property, plant and equipment which was released from
deferred government grants to profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2015. The remaining balance
of government grants amounting to approximately
RMB278,000 (2014: RMB250,000) was mainly granted to
the Group as subsidies to support the operations of the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC during the
year ended 31 December 2015 and these government
grants had no conditions or contingencies attached to them

and they were non-recurring in nature.

FEWE 5 BB E R R A

WA Rt R H R (6
") hE ()

2015 2014
—E—h%F —E—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTT
(Restated)

(&%)

1,513 2,176
1,513 2,176
3,947 -

103 53

936 908
11,590 -

- 292

18,089 3,429

g % BB IE B 2R B R B BT ph Uk
ME - BEREEMELHHAR
#658,0000T (ZZ—HF : AR
#658,0007T) MY BUT M B) - E R
HE-_Z—HAFE+-_A=+—81t
FEAEERFHBBEEER -
BRI 4 Bh 82 58 40 A R #5278,0007T
(ZZE—mF : AR#250,0007T)
FERTAERBIEABEBER N
STRAEEREE-_T—AE+=
A=t+—BLEFEARIHHER
RlZ &8 - T EBUT 5 B I A KT
Bt iBsE - BEBRIEEE
ME o
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER 4. WA - Rtk & K ti$ (6
NET (LOSS)/GAIN (Continued) ") k& (&)
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
(Restated)
(&B%)
Continuing operations: FEEEXRY
Other net (loss)/gain Hthi® (BIR)ka
Net exchange loss b B8 5 58 (905) -
Gain on disposals of property, HEWE - BER
plant and equipment FE 2 W - 51
Loss on write-off of property, MEEME - BE &
plant and equipment X2 BB - (13)
(905) 38

89



Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited ¢ jZ R R{REBHR A T

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 55 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

5. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5. BRWRaEF
Profit before taxation from continuing operations is arrived FNREFELE ETE 2 BRBIANE
at after charging the following: FIEHBR N oIFIE -
2015 2014
—Z-1F —T—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER¥TT ARBF T
(Restated)
(&%)
a) Staff costs (including directors’ a) BIHF (BEEE#ME)
emoluments) (Note): (P&E) :
- Contributions to defined — EREFUR RET BT
contribution retirement (H1:%8)
plans (Note 8) 1,246 1,238
- Salaries, wages and —T% -  HeRhHEMER
other benefits 15,863 16,830
17,109 18,068
b)  Other items: b) XA :
Amortisation of prepaid B E N IE 2 i
lease payments 1,194 1,195
Auditor’s remuneration ZER BN &
— audit services — BT R 1,204 1,089
- other services — H iR 393 460
Cost of inventories (Note) GFERA (#1:2) 797,554 421,212
Depreciation of property, M- BERREZTE
plant and equipment 26,954 28,572
Impairment loss on trade [EWE 5 RIE 2R EEE
receivables* 23,116 19,796
Impairment loss on other H e WK IB 2 R E B 1E
receivables* 2,784 -
Impairment loss on HHESRHEEY
available-for-sale WEEE
financial asset* 9,000 -
Operating lease charges KEHEER
- leasing of properties —MHRWE 1,902 1,970
- leasing of equipment — HR®% 7 6
Marketing and promotional misEEREBERS
expenses* 52,123 =
Research and development R
expenses® 20,286 16,975

These items are included in other operating expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

& This item is included in selling and distribution expenses #

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)
Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2015, cost of inventories
includes approximately RMB24,259,000 (2014: RMB24,978,000)
relating to staff costs and depreciation, which amount is also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately
above.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 1 December 2015, Wuxi Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Technologies Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of its entire equity interests in Wuxi Zhong Dian
Kong Leng Technology Limited (“Wuxi Zhong Dian”) at a
consideration of RMB800,000 (the “Disposal”). Wuxi Zhong
Dian and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Disposal Group”) were principally engaged in provision
of EP related professional services and undertaking of
EP construction engineering projects in the PRC. The
Disposal was completed on 22 December 2015 and the
Group’s operations of provision of EP related professional
services are classified as discontinued operations.

The results and cash flows from the discontinued
operations are analysed as follows. The comparative
figures in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and the consolidated
statement of cash flows have been restated to present the
operations of provision of EP related professional services
as discontinued operations.

5.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

FRIRAIAF (%)

HEz—_ZT—FRF+_-_A=+—8BL#&
E FEKADH AR 24,259,0007T
—ZT—NF : AR¥24,978,0007T) Ty
BREIKRARIE  MxeB\IRC AT
ALXDHBEBRZ BEENA -

ERILEERE

N_ZT—hFE+=-_H—H ' XAF
ZEEE2EWBRRERZTRR
BHEAERARE-—ZBIE=ZH
FIVEEHZ WERREARKE
800,0007T Hi & &85 T+ & 22 /2 1 1i7
ERAR ([EHHE]) 2R ARE
m([HESEHE]) - EHPEREN
BAR (A THEESE]) 2K
PENERERFRBABEERS X
AEREEZXTIEEAR - HESEH
BERZZE—RAF+-A=Z+=ZHRE
B - AR BIR IR R AH R AR
BZEBDEABRIIEEER -

KECRIERLEXRBRERRSE
MEZANWMT - FEBRELEA
EHBRERAZEBRAFEDE
5 AR HRRARERRG 2
EGERERIEREEBK2T
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6.

92

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

Results from discontinued

operations:

Revenue

Cost of sales and services
rendered

Gross profit/(loss)

Other income

General and administrative
expenses

Other operating expenses

Finance costs

Loss before taxation

Income tax expenses

Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries (Note 40)

Profit/(loss) for the year from
discontinued operations

Profit/(loss) for the year from
discontinued operations

attributable to:

— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interests

REEHILEERBZRE -

WA
HE MRHREAA
7 (B#R)

H i zs
—RRATHR X

HAb &=
BEMA

FRIRATEGIR

PSR X

HEHBRARZ
Wk (H1aE40)

FARBERILEEREZ

®BF(BR)

DFALEEFEA

REERILEERBZ

B (B#) :
— RAREEA
— e

ERIEEERE ()

2015 2014
—E—-5hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE  ARETE
6,296 9,614
(1,870) (14,433)
4,426 (4,819)

503 738
(6,833) (6,519)
(577) (4,551)

(666) (1,004)
(3,147) (16,155)

(7) (38)

(3,154) (16,193)
5,150 -
1,996 (16,193)
3,039 (11,239)
(1,043) (4,954)
1,996 (16,193)
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 6.

Loss before taxation from discontinued operations is
arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

ERILEERS ()

RECHRILEERBZRRMER
ek (5t A) FHEMR :

2015 2014
—2—-1¥F —ZE—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETTT

Cost of inventories FERA 587 9,664
Depreciation of property, Y BEREEZITE
plant and equipment 338 347
Impairment loss on trade receivables  JEWE 5318 2 i EEE - 4,148
Interest income FEWA (6) (11)
Operating lease charges for HEMEZKEHEER
leasing of properties - 14
Reversal of impairment loss on BUWE SHIBEZ
trade receivables BB B D - (161)
Reversal of impairment loss on other Hib Uiz IE 2
receivables NERIE agi=tEdE (380) (343)
Staff costs B TRA
— Contributions to defined — E R AT IR
contribution plans 749 544
— Salaries, wages and other benefits —¥e - ITERHAMET 4,707 4,046
5,456 4,590
Cash flows from discontinued REERIEEEEEZ
operations: ReReE:
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from REZLETFHZ
operating activities Be () RAFE (395) 6,349
Net cash inflows from investing activities & B & & /& 8) 2 IR & m A E5E 6 9
Net cash outflows from financing RKAME TS 2R e N F5E
activities (5,666) (388)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from REERIEEEEBL 2
discontinued operations Be ORe),/ RAFHE (6,055) 5,970
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7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

a) Taxation relating to continuing operations in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents:

Current tax: ENHAIRIA -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax A B 1 AT ISR
— Provision for the year — AEERE
(Note 27(a)) (Htet27(a)
Deferred tax: BRERIA :
Origination and reversal of R ERH EER

temporary differences (Note 27(b))  #E (K7727(b))

Income tax expenses FR8 i F >

i) The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands are not subject
to any income tax pursuant to the rules and
regulations of their respective countries of
incorporation.

ii) PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
25% of the estimated assessable profits of the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
during the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014,
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RGEeRESREMZENRE
RZMEHR

a) NEEEDLEMEEmEER
NERBEREXEBZHA

15
2015 2014
—Z-hHfF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTT
(Restated)
(&%)
32,761 19,629
(289) 3,272
32,472 22,901
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7.
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Continued)

a)

Taxation relating to continuing operations in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents: (Continued)

il No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made for the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014 as the Group did not have
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
both years.

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting
profit at applicable tax rates is as follows:

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

REeRarREt2ZEKS
RZMER (8&)
a) REeEzmkEMEENESR

NERBERERT 2HA
5 (&)

i)y BARAKSEREZE_-Z
—AFER=ZFT—HWFT
A=+ —HBIEFEEL
BREABTBZER G
o R ZREFEL
EILE RS R AE L #
1 o

o) RERBEEE L BIE LR
T2 IR -

2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFIT
(Restated)
(&51)
Profit before taxation from REFERLEEB 2
continuing operations B B A o ) 99,293 62,497
Notional tax on profit before RERARESE
taxation calculated at the statutory — GLEREER 2
rates applicable to respective JEE R R E R A
tax jurisdictions w2 BERIE 24,706 16,465
Tax effect of non-deductible DGR
expenses Mg 2 239 1,976
Tax effect of unused tax losses RER M AREBRIERIEZ
not recognised Mg E 2,740 1,188
Tax effect of withholding tax R BIK  2 i B A &)
at 10% on distributable profits Al 53 i A1 0% i 2R
of the subsidiaries established BMTBRB oIS E
in the PRC 4,787 3,272
Income tax expenses Fris®i > H 32,472 22,901
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS COSTS
Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance to join the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan managed by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
Group (the employer) and its employees makes monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income as defined under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The contributions from each
of the employer and employees are subject to a cap
of HK$1,500 per month (HK$1,250 per month prior to
June 2014) and thereafter contributions are voluntary.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC are members of a state-sponsored retirement
plan operated by the local government in the PRC and
these subsidiaries make mandatory contributions to the
state-sponsored retirement plan to fund the employees
retirement benefits. The retirement contributions paid by
these subsidiaries are based on a certain percentage
of the relevant portion of the payroll of all qualifying
employees in accordance with the relevant regulations in
the PRC and are charged to profit or loss as incurred. The
Group discharges its retirement obligations upon payment
of the retirement contributions to the state-sponsored
retirement plan operated by the local governments in the
PRC.

A new law of the PRC on employment contracts (the
“Employment Contract Law”) was adopted by the
Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress of
the PRC in 2008 and became effective on 1 January 2008.
Compliance with the requirements under the new law, in
particular, the requirement of severance payment and non-
fixed term employment contract led to increase in the staff
costs of the Group.

RFIEFI R A
ERMRRIAETE

RIZE B R BIERTE R & GREI &
BERRBGIRE AKREDLH
HRBEARRBROIEE TAAER
MELREBZ2EBRFERTRESE
(MBREEHE]) - BEEAEIH
BYEFEANEE 2 ERBBTRING
g - RigwBEETE - A5E ((FR
Bx) REEREESAZERESM
R (E&E R R BIEREREEE
f5) 25%R Xt I1E LR - BxX
MEBEAE A ZHFRIA1,6008TT
—F-WFERNARRER1,250%8
TO) RER - S BRREIME - ¥
T Bl 2 HERAE RS -

ARRMRABKIZHBARZE
81592 B eh Bl E i BT 8 1E 3 iR B
REBZRINENGFE - ZFH B
R A A %A K E B 2 R IRAE G
R FIEHEFARES ZRKEHN
REES - ZFTEMBRRZE
RERRNDERABERERERH
MezBREOZHERDL - kR
BERBEARMAE  LRRAEE
ZEBEFTABGER - AREHERA
BT BT EEL HBERER 2
BRARSFEIHER RIS EEITH
REEBRKENTEZEE -

FEFEBHARE ([BBERA])
R-ZFZNFEZEAARKERAS
FHREREERML A _FTTN\F—
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS COSTS
(Continued)

Defined contribution retirement plan (Continued)

Pursuant to the new Employment Contract Law, the
PRC subsidiaries are required to enter into non-fixed
term employment contract with employees who have
worked for more than 10 years or with whom a fixed term
employment has been concluded for 2 consecutive terms.
The employer is required to make a severance payment to
the employee when the term of the employment contract
expires unless the employee voluntarily terminates the
contract or voluntarily rejects the offer to renew the
contract in which case the terms are no worse off than
the terms of other employment contracts available to him/
her. The severance payment will equal to the monthly
wages times the number of full years that the employee
has been working for the employer. The minimum wages
requirement has also been imposed. Fines will be imposed
for any breach of the Employment Contract Law.

The Group has no other material obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits associated with the
schemes beyond the contributions described above.

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans for the years ended 31 December 2015
and 2014 are as follows:

Contributions to defined contribution E R FGRIRET 2R

retirement plans

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

BHFEFEE ()

ERHFRAKETE ()

BIEHEBAERE  RHREKEAF
FAED TIEI0F I LB REE
MXEIECHREBERZIES
FIVEETHREEERE - KRR
TEESHE FRHARIBEEE AR
EBEXMENE KBRIEEEAER
AR BBIERERIEHTNER
HuESZEMEHARKRZA
B BHEBEZINTBIEERZES
BRATEFRUZEEBEAEETLIE
HTEEFH - IINEBERKELE
ME - H8BERZEZEMNERSE

==
ERCEIENN

REBE R B R ASN - HAERZ
FET B AE E T A B ST RIK
BHHEARE -

AEFHEZ_T—AHFEA_Z—/
F+_-_A=t+—HItFEzF5E %
FOR RGBT ¢

2015 2014
—E—hF —ET—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTT
(Restated)

(&Z3)

1,246 1,238
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98

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS

The directors of the Company are members of the senior
management of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014. Directors’ emoluments
disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulations are as follows:

Fees

Salaries, allowances and

other benefits

Contributions to defined contribution

retirement plans

Name of director

Executive directors

Mr. Jiang Quanlong (note (i)
Mr. Jiang Lei

Mr. Fan Yajun

Independent
non-executive
directors

Mr. Lai Wing Lee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

Professor Wang Guozhen

EFERBETTRARME

HE_Z—AFRER_ZT—NF+ =
A=+—HBL&E  KRAREZIN
ABREESHEEERE - REF
BN BEME383(NER AR (HE
EEZNmER) BROIEATRE CE

=T :
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBFIT
we 569 585
e EMREMAIZE
1,408 1,397
JE BB FURIRET B 50
27 27
2,004 2,009
Year ended 31 December 2015
SE_EB-AF+-A=+—-ALEE
Contributions
Salaries, to defined
allowances contribution
and other retirement
benefits plans
Fees Hi&  #BR T REF Total
EEl4 e Hipfl 2 AR At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AEBTT AEBTT
RITES
BRERE (W) 98 356 460
BELTE 98 1,052 21 1,171
BhRELAE 98 - - 98
BIkRTER
R4 49 - - 49
2EIEE 177 - - 177
TR A 49 - - 49
569 1,408 27 2,004
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE-_T-—RAF+_A=1+—HLFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EFREETHARHE
EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (#8)

Year ended 31 December 2014
BE-E-WFE+-RA=1t—HItFE

Contributions
Salaries, to defined
allowances contribution
and other retirement
benefits plans
Fees  Hd - 2B K  EEHFER Total
Name of director BENE e HioHz STEIHRK @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Jiang Quanlong (note (i)  BREEXAE (A:)) 95 355 5 455
Mr. Jiang Lei BETE 95 1,028 18 1,141
Mr. Fan Yajun BRELAE 95 - - 95
Mr. Gan Yi (note (ii)) HREE (B732(0) 32 14 4 50
Independent BIAFUTEE
non-executive
directors
Mr. Lai Wing Lee R4 48 - - 48
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny 2R AE 172 = = 172
Professor Wang Guozhen FEZHE 48 = = 48
585 1,397 27 2,009
Notes: Wizt -
(i) Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the chief executive of the Company. (i) BREFERARARSITEA
% °
(if) Mr. Gan Yi resigned as executive director with effect from 7 (i) HREEE-T-NFAALARE

May 2014. BHEMITES -

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the directors of the RZF-AFR-F-—HF+=A

Company held share options under the Company’s share
option scheme. Details of which are disclosed in note 31.

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014,
no directors received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No directors has waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

=t —H ARFEZFREART
BIRESIFARERE -  ARERK
R BEN MRS -

HE_Z—RAFE-_T—NOF+=
A=+—BLEE BEZEEEE
A& B EER B € ERRE A
HRMARNEE R 2 RSB 2
EE BEEENZWMEFENRE
SLREREEMME -

99



Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited ¢ jZ R R{REBHR A T

Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10. REMEATRERETEA
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR =1 K
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(@) Five highest paid individuals (@ HEEZEHFAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, AfiszmME A TBREMMA
two (2014: two) are directors of the Company whose ZE—F : ML) NRAFE
emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate = HBE B RME -
of the emoluments in respect of the remaining BRI REFELE R 2=
three (2014: three) individuals from the continuing ZE—MF - =) AT 2B
operations are as follows: BT
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FRT ARETT

Salaries, allowances and e R REMAR

other benefits 2,183 1,947
Contributions to defined TE FR M FGR RET B R

contribution

retirement plans 29 27

2,212 1,974

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and BE_ZT—HFR-_FT—MNF
2014, no emoluments were paid or payable by +ZA=+—HLEFE A&
the Group to the five highest paid individuals as EfEnhusesiMe ALt
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as RS FE S (E R B < VB 73 5 R 12
compensation for loss of office during both years. FEREMASARMAREE

52 SR SRR 2 B E -
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10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments of the above three (2014: three)
individuals with the highest emoluments are within
the following bands:

Bands: 3 :

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0005 7T

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 L&
2,000,000/ 7T

Senior management’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to senior
management are within the following bands:

Bands: B -

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0008 7T

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 2
2,000,000/ 7T

Note: The total numbers of individuals included two (2014:
two) individuals of senior managements from the
discontinued operations whose emoluments were
within “Nil to HK$1,000,000” band.

10.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE-_T-—RAF+_A=1+—HLFE

REBA

0§50
i}

=

B & A+ R
& (%)

(@ ETHEEBESFHAL (&)
F =M (ZF—WF - =f1)
EmMe AT 2B e AR
™

Number of individuals

A8
2015 2014
“Z=Z—hEF —E—OF
2 2
1 1
3 3

(b) EREEAEME

ENKENTEREEAEZ
MR

Number of individuals

AB
2015 2014
—2—-aF —TlF
7 7
1 1
8 8

it SREBABZBAAEBRE
ML (20144 : M) KR8
BRI S T B & 57
AR [Z E1,000,000/8 T |
ZHR o
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HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

11. DIVIDENDS 11.

(@) Dividend proposed

Proposed final dividend of HK2 cents HE_Z—NF

(2015: Nil) per ordinary +=—HA=+—H
share for the year I FE AR
ended 31 December 2014 2 & B m Ak
27841l
—E—FRE:
=)

The directors of the Company do not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2015.

(b) Dividends declared and paid

Final dividend for the year ended HE—_ZT—NF
31 December 2014 of HK2 cents +=—HA=+—H
per ordinary share (2014: Nil) IFFEREAIR B
TR BB
—T—OF : &\)

102

B2
(a)

EERE

2015 2014
—E—h%F —ET—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

- 13,447

(b)

ARREETEZRNEEZ
E-HF+A=+—HIF
B2 RERE °

EERRZMARE
2015 2014
“Z—hF —Z= P4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARET T

13,761 =
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12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
From continuing and discontinued operations:
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Earnings a7

Profit for the year attributable M EBRERK
to owners of the Company BERNmMEN
for the purposes of basic and diluted ~ AAFHEA A
earnings per share JE 1 9% )

Number of shares Bir& A

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE-F-AF+-A=+—ALFE
12. SBREFH (HR)
REBFELSERDRIEREREK

ARRFEAANEEERERREE
BT A T BURET &

2015 2014
—Z—-nfF —T—HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTTT
(Restated)

(E71))

69,860 28,357
2015 2014
—Z—1F —T-lF

Weighted average number of ordinary  #tst EGREREF M= HY

shares for the purposes of calculating @A ANFE F 198

basic earnings per share

Add: Effects of dilutive potential ordinary il : BER%#E £ &

shares from share options HETEky

Weighted average number of ordinary — tit & G a%#EE R
shares for the purposes of calculating 3@ A% hnAE 15 £

diluted earnings per share

840,000,000 817,863,014

12,853,988 18,130,204

FH

852,853,988 835,993,218
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued) 12. BEREF (&iR) (&)
From continuing operations: REFERLEEK .
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RARHEBABMLREFELEF
from continuing operations attributable to owners of the BeEBRERNRESERFTIZAT
Company is based on the following data: IR E -
Earnings figures are calculated as follows: BANHFHENT
2015 2014
—E—hF —EF-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT ARBTIT
(Restated)
(&B%)
Profit for the year attributable to RAREB ANEEER
owners of the Company from REFBECE R
continuing and discontinued BRI TS 2 s A
operations 69,860 28,357
Adjusted for: (Profit)/loss for the year — HE : NATHEAB AJELL
from discontinued FAREBLKIE
operations attributable to BT Y
owners of the Company C#A),/ B (3,039) 11,239
Earnings for the purposes of basic M ESRERR
and diluted earnings per share EERNmE R
from continuing operations REFELEER 2 BF 66,821 39,596

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted earnings per share from

continuing and discontinued operations.
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12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)

From discontinued operations:

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations is
RMBO0.36 cents (2014: basic loss per share of RMB1.37
cents) per share, based on the profit for the year from
discontinued operations attributable to owners of the
Company amounting to approximately RMB3,039,000
(2014: loss for the year amounting to approximately
RMB11,239,000) and the denominators detailed above for
basic earnings per share from continuing and discontinued
operations.

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations is
RMBO0.36 cents (2014: diluted loss per share of RMB1.35
cents) per share, based on the profit for the year from
discontinued operations attributable to owners of the
Company amounting to approximately RMB3,039,000
(2014: loss for the year amounting to approximately
RMB11,239,000) and the denominators detailed above
for diluted earnings per share from continuing and
discontinued operations.

12.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

srREH (R (&)
RESKRIERERK

REBRIEREER 2 EAATA
BRAR®0.36%0 (-4 :
REAREEBARE1.37D) 0 HiRE
AABHABAEBEFRNREBERILE
KT 7 A # AR #63,039,000
T (ZZE—NF  FRAEBOBAR
#11,239,0007T) K kX Hhk 8+
BRENERIEKEXB 2 BRE
RANFAFLNDTFE o

REBRIEREER 2B ERT A
BIRARK0.360 (ZZ—MUEF :
B SR B A REA1.359) © HiRE
AAEHBABEFRNRBERILE
K FETE 2w B4 AR 53,089,000
T (ZZE—F  FRAEBBOABAR
#11,239,0007T) K& £ XX Bt 2R B £
BREMERIEKEXE 2 BlE
SERANFLNDTEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

13. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

Carrying amount: IREE :

At beginning of the year F7)

Additions during the year FARE

Amortisation for the year F N

Derecognised on disposal of HEN B AR [
subsidiaries (Note 40) RIERER (B7E40)

At end of the year FR

Analysed by: DT -

Non-current portion IEM BN EB 1D

Current portion mBEk

Total #ag

The prepaid lease payments represent prepayments
of lease premium for lands situated in the PRC under
medium-term leases. The amortisation charge for the
year is included in “general and administrative expenses”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The Group is in the process of obtaining the land use
right certificate for a leasehold land with carrying amount
of RMB13,816,000 as at 31 December 2015 (2014:
RMB14,123,000).

106

13. RTHEARER

2015 2014
—Z2—1¥F —ZE—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARETT

54,534 55,729
5,180 =
(1,194) (1,195)
(5,180) =
53,340 54,534
52,146 53,339
1,194 1,195
53,340 54,534

BNAEFRRERE BBEE FX
SN ZRFEz AN LHES -
REFHBHERFTAGRBER LA
feEmlaERZ [—RETERAX]
7 o

REBEHAR_-_ZET—HE+ =
A=Z+—HHNEEABEARARKEK
13,816,000 (ZE—MWE: AR
#14,123,0007T) &) & & b & B}
T Hb(E FAREE A BIEF -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:
Asat 1 January 2014

Additions
Transfers
Disposals
Write-off
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2014
and 1 January 2015

Addltions

Transfers

Derecognised on disposal of
subsidiaries (Note 40)

Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2015

Accumulated depreciation:

As at 1 January 2014
Charge for the year
Written back on disposals

Eliminated on write-off
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2014
and 1 January 2015

Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposal

of subsidiaries (Note 40)
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2015

Carrying amounts:

As at 31 December 2015

As at 31 December 2014

Notes:

Bk
RZE-RE-f-A

HE
&3
e
6
B

A

RZZ-ME+=
—E-15-A

R
TE
gz
HENBAFE

R |HRERR (Wist40)
Efgz

18
A

RERRN
e

%@
Hipes Bl
Ex%

RZE-RE+-A=1-A
k=%-1%-A-H

TEERY

HENBAAR

Bl (Wi40)

B AT

RZZ-E+-A=1-H

WM
RZE-1%+-A=t-H

RZZ-TME+-A=1-H

14. ¥ - BERBHE

a) As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s building with
carrying amount of approximately RMB724,000 (2015: Nil)
was pledged to a bank to secure a bank loan granted to a
subsidiary of the Company (see note 23).

Furniture,
fixturesand  Leasehold Plant and Motor Construction
Buildings ~ equipment improvements  machineries vehicles Molding in progress Total
i RER
L B HEMRRE BERERES RE B4 ERIR ]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT ARETIA ARETT ARETn  ARETR  ARETR
119,966 2,860 13,718 123,305 9,569 12,424 162,447 444,289
36,434 798 9,103 17,939 - 2,436 47,703 114,413
34,022 - 493 48,109 - - (82,824) -
- - - - (237) - - (237)
- - - - (127) - - (127)
- 4 4 - 9 - - 17
190,622 3,662 23,318 189,353 9,214 14,860 127,326 558,355
9,850 685 - - - 613 5,055 16,203
- - 2,098 - - - (2,098) -
(10,898) (700) (1,305) (3,192) (437) - - (16,532)
- 12 11 - 26 - - 49
189,574 3,659 24,122 186,161 8,803 15,473 130,283 558,075
23,034 2,190 2,29 35,115 4,951 10,379 - 77,964
7,540 21 508 15,506 1,126 3,998 - 28919
= - - - (113) - - 113
- - - - (114) - - (114)
- 4 4 - 1 - - 9
30,574 2,415 2,807 50,641 5,851 14,317 - 106,665
8,604 349 1,319 14,858 1,117 1,045 - 21,292
(364) (646) (1,304) (2,011) (424) - - (4,749)
- 1 12 - 8 - - 3
38,814 2,129 2,834 63,488 6,552 15,422 - 129,239
150,760 1,530 21,288 122,673 2,251 51 130,283 428,836
160,048 1,247 20,511 138,712 3,363 483 127,326 451,690
Kz

a RIE—NFE+-_A=+—HEHT
BEHENHARET24,0000T (ZF
—HF ) ZAREBFEIER
FRAREEIR T AR R —EM B A A

ZRITER (RHFE23) o
b) FMBEERFHRPERACNBESH

b) All the buildings are situated in the PRC and are situated on
lands held under medium-term leases.

HE

Eo
SN

BB E -
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HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

15.

108

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET

Unlisted equity investment WA ETE Z R
in the PRC, at cost JEETRARE

The carrying amount of the above unlisted equity
investment represents 5% equity interest in a private entity
established in the PRC. The unlisted equity investment,
which is not held for short-term trading, is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses as the investment
does not have a quoted price in an active market and the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that its fair value cannot be measured reliably. As at 31
December 2015, the Group does not intend to dispose of
the investment in the near future.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
performed an impairment assessment on its available-for-
sale financial asset by taken into account the unexpected
low revenue and substantial operating loss of the
investment and an impairment loss of RMB9,000,000
(2014: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss during the year.

15. AfHHESMEE

2015 2014
—=E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREETF T

- 9,000

ik ERAREZEREERKE
B S 2 FAA B RS 2 5% HE -
VIEARHEEMRBZIELTR
AEE AR EERTEFTRE
BAHEAEATENEE LKA
NEESRBENFETER S
HE MR R EE BT
R -R—_ZTE—RAF+_A=+—
B AEBSFNERTAGRLEE
ZIRE -

HE-_T—AF+-_A=+—H8L
FE AEBERIZRENRE
BHZEBKAREALEBEMY
HatHESMEELETRERT
i REREBRSZTRIAREESIE
AR#9,000,0007T (2014 : #) -



16. PREPAYMENTS FOR CONSULTATION,
MARKETING AND PROMOTIONAL

SERVICES

(@)

Movements of prepayments for consultation,
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B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

marketing and promotional services, based on
estimated dates of services rendered, during the

year are as follows:

As at 1 January

Additions

Refund of prepayments (Note)
Utilised and charged to profit or loss

As at 31 December

Analysed for reporting purposes
as follows:

Non-current portion

Current portion (included in trade
and other receivables (Note 19))

Total

R—H—H

NE

BRERMNK (H:2)
EFAK AR

Rt+t=-—A=+—8

BE2FHDHRT -

IEmEN 1D

mENEBD GTARKE S
MEMFIB (Ka£19))

FGEL]

(@)

16. FA TRERREMRE
W&

FREH THERREER

BRMRBE A RERE MG

STEH BT
2015 2014
—=E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETF T
216,500 =
- 230,500
(13,150) =
(77,593) (14,000)
125,757 216,500
83,300 130,000
42,457 86,500
125,757 216,500
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HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

16. PREPAYMENTS FOR CONSULTATION,
MARKETING AND PROMOTIONAL
SERVICES (Continued)

(b) The analysis of the carrying amount of
prepayments for consultation, marketing and
promotional services which will be charged to
profit or loss is as follows:

Within one year —FA
After one year but less than two years —E&{ERER
After two years but less than five years fE{&18 7K

Prepayments for consultation, marketing and
promotional services represent the prepayments
made by the Group to several independent
architectural research and design institutes and
universities in the PRC (the “Parties”) for providing
consultation services to set up and establish industry
standards and national criteria with respect to
applications of wood wool cement board (“WWCB”)
related materials on different aspects, and for
providing marketing and promotional services to the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the
Group entered into several agreements (the
“Agreements”) with the Parties for the purpose of (i)
providing consultation services to the Group so as to
set up and establish industry standards and national
criteria for applications of WWCB related materials in
the PRC and (ii) rendering marketing and promotional
services to the Group for enhancing the development
of the Group’s WWCB related materials and market
penetration in the PRC during the years from 2015
to 2019. The total consideration of the Agreements
is RMB266,000,000 of which RMB230,500,000
was paid by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2014. Pursuant to the Agreements, the
Group has reserved the rights to recall part of or all
of the prepayments already made to the Parties if the
Parties cannot fulfill the conditions as stated in the
Agreements.
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16. B THERREMERE
W& ()

HEFABENEHE - TIHERE
REBRBEANRZREES
war

2015 2014
—Z—hF —ZE—O4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARBT T

42,457 86,500
39,600 32,500
43,700 97,500
125,757 216,500

- MGHEEREEREE
MREARER A AEERHE
BRARAKEGNRIR ([ K&K
1) HERE RN R 5 E 2 e
A RREITEEE R BERER
B RS ARTS - AR TSR K
EEREMASEZZIBLE
ERF LM ERE R AR ([F]
#771) R RO TSR ©

REBEE_Z-—NE+-_A=+
—BLIFE  AEBEEFTOH
()R Bl & 7R 44 7K R 1R A8 8
VIRl 2 FE B K s B 1T AR 4
R B 2R 2 Bl iy [m) A &2 B 54 AR AR
% RN E—RFE_FT
—NEEFBHAREANEENKR
#HIORIR AR MR R T
L2 EERMAANERIRETS
HEREGERYS  FIETH
& ([ZEmal) - ZEhEN
@K 1B A AR 266,000,000
o He A R #230,500,000
TERAAERREZE T —IY
F+_A=+—HLFEX
fF o BIEZS W - WETHH
REEM B 2 F 1k Pt ik 1 -
AEERBUEE RETLH X
1~ B9 281 3k 2 BB T8 15 3k /Y 4
A o
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16. PREPAYMENTS FOR CONSULTATION,
MARKETING AND PROMOTIONAL
SERVICES (Continued)

(b)

The analysis of the carrying amount of
prepayments for consultation, marketing and
promotional services which will be charged to
profit or loss is as follows: (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
expenses for consultation services of approximately
RMB22,343,000 (net of tax of approximately
RMB20,286,000) (2014: approximately
RMB14,000,000 (net of tax of approximately
RMB13,207,000)) and the expenses for marketing
and promotional services of approximately
RMB55,250,000 (net of tax of approximately
RMB52,123,000) (2014: Nil) were recognised
as “research and development expenses” and
“marketing and promotional expenses” in profit or loss
respectively.

Note: On 30 June 2015, two of the Parties entered into an
agreement with the Group and agreed to refund part
of the prepayments for consultation, marketing and
promotional services amounting to approximately
RMB13,150,000 to the Group as a result of non-
fulfilment of certain conditions as stated in the
Agreements and the amount was fully received by the
Group in August 2015.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

16. FA TRERREMRE

W& (8&)

(b)

HEEFABENEHE - THER
REEREANRZREESD
M ()

REBEE-_Z—ARAF+-_A=+
—HIEFE  BHAREHAX
4 N R #6022 343,0007T (4240
B i 1H 49 A R #20,286,000
TTI(ZE—WF: HARME
14,000,000 (4 $0BR #7218 49
A R #13,207,0007)) &
GHEREEREASIHAR
#55,250,0007T (AL 30 Bk F{ 1B
A ANER#52 123,0007T) (=&
—UF &) ERBEAD R
WRAHERAS R [TMEHEHE
BREERY] -

Bt R—ZE—RHEA=+8
AR EE M B ek N ATl
TR - MBI 47 &
AEER W RERE
AEEFZN MBHEERS
BREHIHDEMRARE
13,150,0007T * 1M sZ 7K EE,
MAEER_Z—HEN\A
FEumE o
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

112

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December
2015 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary
U NGER

Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Technologies

Limited

Dragon Commend Limited

Wuxi Pan Asia

Environmental Protection
Technologies Limited (Note i)

EHZDREMER
BRLE (i)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

and type of

legal entity
HREL/ Bk
RERRENE

British Virgin
[slands, limited
liability company

RERLES
BRAR

British Virgin
Islands, limited
liability company

AERNAS
BRAT

The PRC,
jointly-
foreign-owned
enterprise

TE - SERELE

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered
capital
BRTR
HERs
EfkE

US$200/
Ordinary Share
20057/
2k

US$1/
Ordinary Share
%1/

US$54,280,000/
Registered Capital
54,280,005/

i RA

17. RBLATIZRE

MEARENT :
Proportion of ownership interest
WAELA
The

Group’s Held Held
effective by the by a
interest Company subsidiary
FRE BN BMERR
RRiEa #8 #8
100% 100% -
100% 100% =
100% 58.95% 41.05%

R-ZE—RAFE+-_A=+—"H ARQaAz

Principal activities

and place of

operations

IRRBRETHR

Investment holding/
Hong Kong

REnR /£

Not yet commence
business
EE2%

Manufacture and
sales of EP
products and
equipment,
undertaking of
EP construction
engineering
projects, and
manufacture
and sales of
EP construction
materials/
the PRC

RRERRZEL
HERFE
FERRERLRE
R REER
HERRBRENE /
e
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

17. RBATZKRE (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

WAELA
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/ The
establishment registered  Group’s Held Held
and type of capital  effective by the bya  Principal activities
legal entity B&#fTR  interest Company subsidiary  and place of
Name of subsidiary BT/ RihE WEkE,/ F%E HELF @EMELT  operations
U NGER RERRENE gfkd RRER 8 8 IERBREEDE
Pan Asia Environmental The PRC, HK$100,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Manufacture and
Protection (China) wholly- Registered Capital sales of EP
Company Limited (Note i) foreign-owned 100,000,000/ T products and
R (FE) enterprise / EfRA equipment and
BRAR (frti) hEHNERELE undertaking of EP
construction
engineering
projects/
the PRC
RREMREEZ
RERHER
RERRER
IREE /%
EEERLREGBRAF The PRC, RMB10,000,000/ 100% = 100%  Undertaking of
domestic- Registered Capital EP construction
invested limited A& 10,000,000 engineering
liability company /iR projects/
TE - BRRE the PRC
BRAT RIERRER
IRER/

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at the end of the year or within any time during the year.

Notes:

(i) The English names for these companies which were
established in the PRC are not officially registered but
included here as a translation for identification purpose.

(i) The Group had no subsidiaries which have material
non-controlling interests during the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014.

A B R B 7K 6 [ AR s ) 0 4 Y B
RABEREBESFE

wisz -

()  WHRBEIKZZ QA2 E I IE
EXEMEL 2R - AREFPT
PR AW HEEMS - 35
ZH e

iy BEZZT-—AFERZT—EOF+=

A=+—BLFE  AEEILEMH
BRRER EASEER R

113



Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited ¢ jZ R R{REBHR A T

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 55 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

18. INVENTORIES 18. &
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AREET T
Raw materials R E 928 2,781
Work-in-progress TR 91,867 113,467
Finished goods BUAY 145,810 128,022
238,605 244,270
19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. BB S RHEMBIA
2015 2014
—Z-1F —T—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREFTT
Trade receivables with normal EREERZ
credit terms (Note a) FEARE 5K (Hita) 334,820 158,651
Trade receivables with extended EEREEERZ
credit terms (Note b) FEWE S 5/I8 (f7#b) 216,334 -
Total trade receivables U E 5 IR R 551,154 158,651
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts A RERIE (31,322) (27,226)
Total trade receivables, net of JEWE SFIER%E
allowance for doubtful debts B RERBEE 519,832 131,425
Less: Non-current portion of trade B BEREERSZ
receivables with extended credit terms e E 55038 2 IR B bt (112,744) -
Current portion of trade receivables FEN B 5 538 2 mEEh{n 407,088 131,425
Other receivables (Note c) H e WRIE (Hiize) 29,487 46,036
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W RIREHE (2,784) (1,042)
26,703 44,994
Retention receivables (Note d) FEME RFIE (ff7Ed) 35,839 51,826
Amounts due from related eI B @ A RIRFRIE (A7:220)
companies (Note 20) 1,016 16
Amounts due from customers EREF&HNIENRE (f:126)
for contract work (Note 26) 962 15,325
Loans and receivables S R AR IR 471,608 243,586
Prepayments for consultation, B TIEHERE R
marketing and promotional SERBENRK (H1:F16)
services (Note 16) 42,457 86,500
Prepayments and deposits BN MRS 47,631 139,727
Other tax recoverables HApth Tl Bl 7 & 45,283 36,871
606,979 506,684
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The Group generally allows credit period ranging from
0 to 365 days to its trade customers with normal credit
terms and credit period up to three years to its trade
customers with extended credit terms which is based on
the contractual repayment schedule. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy are set out in note 38(b)(i).

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables
with normal credit terms and trade receivables with
extended credit terms, net of allowance for doubtful
debts, respectively, presented based on the invoice date
at the end of the reporting period which approximated the

19.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

BERAREMKRE ()

AEB-—RAETHESFEF0E36S
HOWEEEEH TeREAHE]
PHWERKREAR STHESFRP
RE-F7EREEH - LS
EEEMBRE 2 E—FTFE &R
M EE38(b)(i) °

UTREAEREEERHNERES
RENERREEHNEWEF R
B SERBERBEHRNEZH
Hi (A RAU AR RERR B HIARD) X
MR RIE R BB BRI DT

respective revenue recognition dates:

Normal credit terms Extended credit terms Total

EEEEN EREEH st
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
-1 ~—ZT-NF ZB-If¥ —T-NF ZB-1F —ZT-@F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETT
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 3,717 9,064 - - 3,717 9,064
31 - 60 days 31260H 25,200 272 - - 25,200 272
61 - 90 days 61290H 38,952 3,187 128,254 - 167,206 3,187
91 - 180 days 912180H 154,318 65,466 88,080 - 242,398 65,466
181 - 365 days 1812365H 81,311 19,387 - - 81,311 19,387
Over 365 days 3658 - 34,049 - - - 34,049
303,498 131,425 216,334 - 519,832 131,425
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

a)

116

Trade receivables with normal credit terms

The ageing analysis of trade receivables with
normal credit terms that are neither individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired REE TR AR E
Less than 1 month past due pal- i N K DS
1 to 3 months past due BH1 =3/ A
More than 3 months past due 61 B R HR 31 A

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

19. BB REMBKIE (&)

a) AERFEHMzZEWREZNKE

I 4 {8 5l 2k KRR (E R (B 9 &
EHEEMZRKESFRIEALZ

FRER DI
2015 2014
—E—-aF —T-mE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETIT
272,946 9,336
4,781 3,187
3,018 65,466
22,753 53,436
303,498 131,425

RE AR 78 B 71 ARORU(E 2 FE W R TE

B2 % 2 B A ROE SRR 2
EFER -

B8 BB RORL(E 2 FE WA B
ZERARASEERIEE
L ZBITPHER - ENB
R AR EEERYES
RN AZERBDRIART
28 E - WEREEMREHA
LA RSB BERE - &
SEYESEREHREEM
HiHm o
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

a)

Trade receivables with normal credit terms
(Continued)

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables
with normal credit terms are recorded using an
allowance account unless the Group is satisfied
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which
case the impairment loss is written off against trade
receivables directly (see note 2(g)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
of trade receivables with normal credit terms during
the year, including both specific and collective loss
components, is as follows:

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

19. BlER SR HEMBRIF (&)

a)

As at 1 January R—H—H
Impairment loss recognised EHERREEE
Reversal of impairment loss BB E R D
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries &5 K& 2 7B 45
As at 31 December R+—_H=+—H

Reversal of impairment loss on trade debtors
represents the recovery of debts due from these
debtors previously considered to be impaired. An
allowance for these receivable amounts that had
been made in previous years was reversed back
accordingly.

As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables
with normal credit terms of approximately
RMB31,322,000 (2014: RMB27,226,000) were
individually determined to be impaired. These
individually impaired receivables were outstanding for
over 180 days as at the end of the reporting period
or were due from debtors with financial difficulties.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

AERFEH2BRERESFHE
()

AR EESNEYEZ KA
ZRAERE TR B R T
R BRFEAKERELEZE
B ATREMERIE - RIZORE &
BeERRENESHEDM
5 (RFfFE2(9)) -

FRALEREEHNREKES
REZREBREZLS (B
EREBEEED) AT

2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
27,226 3,443
23,116 23,944
(11,590) (161)
(7,430) =
31,322 27,226

B 5 M OB B 1R B ] 45 2 Al
AR RREN BN ZEERA
MEREKRED - RBEFEHR
ZERWFAEHBRE 2
EEHARRE -

RZE—RF+_A=+—
H AEEEESHNEKE
5 B4 A R 31,322,000
T(ZE—WWF: AR
27,226,0007T) E 1B Bl E %
BB © 5% F @ B E 2 UK
SRIBRA R &5 HR R 8 AR 33180
B SHEAMBRE &%
ARS « REBEZFEHRT
ERE AR Y -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

b)

118

Trade receivables with extended credit terms

The amount represented the carrying amount of trade
receivables arising from the sales of EP products and
equipment to certain government authorities in the
PRC during the year ended 31 December 2015. At
initial recognition, the consideration to be received
by the Group was RMB237,050,000 which will be
settled by several instalments as stipulated in the
sale contracts in which the last settlement date will
be on or before 31 October 2018. The fair value of
the consideration recognised at the initial recognition
was approximately RMB212,387,000, determined
using discounted cash flows at an imputed
rate of interest. The difference of approximately
RMB24,663,000 between the nominal value of the
consideration and the fair value of the consideration
at the initial recognition was debited to revenue.

The movements of trade receivables with extended
credit terms during the year is as follow:

Fair value of the consideration at initial recognition RIMEHERR 2 KEAFE

FRERZEEME (Hi24)

Imputed interest recognised
during the year (Note 4)

As at 31 December 2015
Less: Amounts due within one year included
in trade receivables — current

Amounts shown under non-current assets

19. BB REMBKIE (&)

b)

R-_E—RF+=-A=1+—H
B T ARKE S
—EREHFRE — AE

EEMIFRBEER TR SR

BERGEN 2EWESHE

ZEREEHE T -—hEt+=
A=+—BLEEFEARARSPH
B T BUT# B 68 & IR IREE b
REMEENERE S KE
ZERMEE o R ¥ 18 1R B
AEBRBEBRZRKEAAR
#237,050,0007C @ #5 3% $8 &
AHRETHD S EE S
B Hdh s — @AM B 8%
BZE—-N\F+H=+—8H
8 2 Bl o A W1 4A FE R B FT RE
RHREBEAFELNEARE
212,387,0007T * Jy{E B #TR
BeMEEGBEMNEEE - 1
RN ENmESRNRE
ATFEZENEZBHARE
24,668,000 CHEU A H0ER o

ELEREEHMNEKE S A
REAZEBMT -

RMB’000
AR®TT

212,387
3,947
216,334

(103,590)

112,744
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

b)

Trade receivables with extended credit terms
(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
trade receivables with extended credit terms which
fall due as follows:

Within one year —FRN
After one year but less than two years —F&EBMER
After two years but less than three years fIFE£{E =F R

As at 31 December 2015, no allowance for doubtful
debts was provided for trade receivables with
extended credit terms.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables with
extended credit terms that are neither individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

REHTTRRE

Neither past due nor impaired

As at 31 December 2015, the trade receivables
with extended credit terms of approximately
RMB216,344,000 (2014: Nil) were due from certain
government authorities in the PRC which will be
settled by several instalments up to three years.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

19. BlER SR HEMBRIF (&)

b) RERFEHZEWESNE
(%)

RBEHR - ARENELER
EEHZRKE A 25 B

BT -
2015 2014
—Z—-AR%F —T—HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTTT
103,590 S
85,920 -
26,824 =
216,334 -

R-F—AF+-_A=+—
B YEABTEREEHZE
WE ZRIAEL R

I 4 {8 5 2k H R AR VR R (B 2 &
REEREEMZEEEHHRIALZ

BRI
2015 2014
—ZE—h%F =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREET T
216,334 -

RZE—RF+_A=+—
H BEEREEBHzZEKE
SHRBEB2HEBENAEARE
216,344,000C (= &£ — @
F ) BERAFBEE TR
IR - BEZRZ=FRNH
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E-—AE+_A=+—RHILFE

HEC

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

120

c)

d)

Other receivables

Included in other receivables as at 31 December
2014 was an advance of approximately
RMB17,230,000 (2015: Nil) to the local government
authority of Guannan County, Lianyungang City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The management
believes that no impairment allowance was necessary
in respect of this balance as the balance was still
considered fully recoverable.

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
during the year, including both specific and collective
loss components, is as follows:

As at 1 January R—H—H
Impairment loss recognised
Reversal of impairment loss

Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries

Rl L5 45 1 )

As at 31 December

Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables
represents the recovery of debts due from these
debtors previously considered to be impaired. An
allowance for these receivable amounts that had
been made in previous years was reversed back
accordingly.

At at 31 December 2015, other receivables of
approximately RMB2,784,000 (2014: RMB1,042,000)
were individually determined to be impaired. These
individually impaired receivables were outstanding for
over one year as at the end of the reporting period
or were due from debtors with financial difficulties.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Retention receivables

Retention receivables (typically 5% to 20% of the
total contracted value) are amounts which are not
paid by the customers until fulfilment of warranty
period of generally 1 to 2 years specified in the
contracts for the payment of such amounts. The
amount of retentions are expected to be recovered
through its normal operating cycle.

EERBERE

19. BB REMKIE (&)

c)

5 BB 2 ] B i 8

R+—A=+—H

d)

Lt P& W =R IR

HElwHEREER T —
mE+—-_A=+—HB@ENF
FETHEAEEEMEDNSRE
WEFEPTZRBEHAREK
17,230,000 (ZF — R F -
m) c EBEMRE AR%ZE
BRENHR AT 28U E - it
FREAMEEVERVE R -

iWZ%ﬁE%& HEE (BER
MEREEEIG) IR

2015 2014

—E—hF = — o4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREET T

1,042 1,385

2,784 =

(380) (343)

(662) =

2,784 1,042

H b fE TR E BB B O 2

ATIRAR AR B JE R sZ S 1E 7

ARBEREEKRE - MBEFE
Bhax T E A UGB VR L B R
Z BB AERE -

R-_E—RHF+_-_A=+—
B EfEWZHEHARE
2,784,0007T (ZZ—P£E : A
R #1,042,0007T) ERIEE &
BERE - RREHER 5@
B8 (B WU ER T [ R UK [ 4B 48
—F o R B B TS R B E TS
A o REBWERZFHEHTT
BEREHRR -

FE W B R 7R

FEWE RFRIBIE R P W A
R (—REBENBREEZ
5%ZE20%) * A BRBEKRE
TENTRAZERP (—RA
—EMF) &7 TN - B
ZERFBEARE—REER

HIR A T UM -



COMPANIES

Name of
related company

WELF AR

TERRB RGBT EREE
BRAT

Benxi Fanya Environmental
Heat & Power Co., Ltd.
RERDERAEFRAA
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED

Relationship with
the Group
HESEMHRE

A company of which
Mr. Jiang Lei, a director
of the Company, is also a
legal representative
AREEFERTEMER
EERKRZ R

A company of which
Mr. Fan Yajun, a director
of the Company, is also
a director and one of the
ultimate beneficiaries

ARREELTERETE
FEFEREP—BHEK
REMAL A

A company of which Mr.
Jiang Lei, a director of
the Company, is also
one of the ultimate
beneficiaries

ARRIEZBERETNRE
R—ZRETHAZ AT

20. FERELFRIREA

Maximum amount
outstanding during
the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=t+—-HLEE

*EERELH

2015 2014 2015 2014

—g-E§ -T-nNF —B-HE -—T-N&

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARRTLE ARETL ARMFE ARETI

16 16 1,016 820

1,000 - 1,000 -
1,016 16

The amounts due from related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

EURBEERRNFARELR %
BB ERKENERER -
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21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 21.

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less. As at 31 December 2015, the bank
balances and deposits carried interests at the prevailing
market interest rate which ranged from 0% to 0.35%
(2014: 0% to 0.39%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had bank balances
and cash that were either not freely convertible
or were subject to exchange controls in the PRC,
amounting to approximately RMB275,743,000 (2014:
RMB378,646,000).

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22.
Trade payables (Note a) e E S FIE (Hata)
Accruals and other payables FEST & R K& B A FE T RIE
Amounts due to directors (Note 24) S E B RIE (f7a224)
Amounts due to related companies FEfTREB A RIFRIE (fa225)
(Note 25)

Amounts due to customers for EREPEHIENRIE
contract work (Note 26) (H1:26)

Financial liabilities measured NG ENERBE

at amortised cost

Other PRC tax payables Hh e R B AR IR

122

Be&k@iTREE

ReRBTEREERAEEREZ
RekFREINHPER=AHUT
ZRARTER - R_F—AF+
“A=1T—R ROBKREFIIR
BITMSFENENFEER0.35% (=
T—MF : TFE0.39%)5 R o

R-E—FFE+-_A=+—H ' &
SEFEETERPE AR LB T
INEBEFIRFEZ BITHEGRIREH
B AR#275,743,0000T (ZZ—
& AR¥378,646,0007T) °

EfESREMBKRIE
2015 2014
ot 2k 8- —=—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

109,160 114,060
55,181 51,454
2,876 =
16,339 6,628
1,657 =
185,213 172,142
2,340 4,653
187,553 176,795
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

a)

Ageing analysis of trade payables

The ageing analysis of trade payables at the end of
each reporting period based on invoice date is as
follows:

0 — 30 days 0£30H

31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 — 90 days 61290H
91 — 180 days 91£180H
181 — 365 days 181%365H
Over 365 days 3658 A

22 EMRARAEMBRIT (&)
a) ENEZRRZRRD T

FENE SRR NN & s RZ
BHEAHZREDHTMT

2015 2014
—E—-1%F —EF-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBETIT
253 14,953
11,155 2,779
7,574 1,017
11,549 3,140
36,471 2,970
42,158 89,201
109,160 114,060
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HEC

T-AFt+t_A=1t—BLLFE

s RLRREBERRAT

23. SHORT-TERM BANK LOANS

124

At the end of each reporting period, the bank loans were

repayable as follow:

Carrying amount repayable:

Within one year or on demand

Note: The bank loans contained a repayable on demand clause.
The amounts were due within one year from 31 December
2014 based on scheduled repayment dates as stipulated in

respective loan agreements.

At the end of each reporting period, the bank loans were

secured as follow:

Bank loans
— secured
— unsecured

EMEREE

REBEHR  BEEZRITERK

23. MHARITHER
M -
2015
—E-5%
RMB’000
AR®TT

AR —FARBREREER -

MITHER

— BEA
— ERH

2014
—mE
RMB’000
ARETIT

14,000

Mz - RITERE
BERES

SRERMBEEGK - 1R
X foh 51 B RO FE RE SR 5K H

H ZEeRR -_T-—NFE+_A
=t HE-—FRIBEE -

R|EMR - RIT

ERZERER

s

2015 2014
“EB—-AfF —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TR ARETT

- 9,000

- 5,000

- 14,000
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23. SHORT-TERM BANK LOANS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2014, the secured bank loan of
RMB9,000,000 was denominated in RMB with interest at
a rate of the People’s Bank of China RMB Loan Interest
Rate plus 30% of that rate. The effective interest rate
ranged from 6% to 7.8% per annum. The unsecured bank
loan of RMB5,000,000 was denominated in RMB with
interest at a rate of the People’s Bank of China RMB Loan
Interest Rate plus 20% of that rate. The effective interest
rate ranged from 5% to 6% per annum.

As at 31 December 2014, the bank loan of RMB9,000,000
was secured by the Group’s building with carrying amount
of approximately RMB724,000 (see note 14(a)).

All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the
fulflment of covenants. If the Group were to breach the
covenants, the drawn down facilities would become
payable on demand. The Group regularly monitors its
compliance with these covenants. Further details of the
Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note
38(b)(iii). As at 31 December 2014, none of the covenants
relating to drawn down facilities was breached by the
Group.

24. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

BRELE
BEiL

Mr. Jiang Quanlong
Mr. Jiang Lei

The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

23. EHARITER ()

RZZE—NFE+=—A=+—H"' &
IR 1T E AR E9,000,0007T LA
ARBHE AXAEFEARRT
AR B FF & 3% ) E #930% ©
BEEEMRNF6%ET7.8% o EHEI
RITERARK5,000,0007T A AR
BiE AEEFRARRBRITAR
BB AR Z A EH20% ° B R
FEFENTE5%ZE6% °

RZZT—MNFEF+=—A=+—H &
£ E 2 AR #9,000,0005T R 17 E
RIUAEBEREFELHARE
724,0007T (ALK 5E14(a)) 21EFE
BEA o

AEBAARITREY ZZEME
R WAEEERRZH:  EFAZ
EEHEABREREE AEETH
ERRREBTRELFL - BALE
EERERBESRBZE—FTHE
A FE38(b)(iii) - R —ZE—P0F +
—A=t—HB ASEBUEERE
BEAEERE 2 -

24, BENEERR

2015 2014
—E—-1F —ZT—UF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
2,376 -

500 -

2,876 -

ENEZFRRDGERNT 28 NA

BRI -
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25. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES

126

Name of related company

MEALRE

Yixing Silver Mile Fluorescent
Materials Co., Ltd
(“Yixing Silver Mile”)
HEREK KA BRAA]
(TE&ERX])

Praise Fortune Limited

Benxi Fanya Environmental Heat &

Power Co., Ltd.
FEZTIRRAEBR AT

Relationship with the Group
HEXSEME

A company of which
Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
a director of the
Company, is also a
director of its shareholder

25. EMRAELTRIA

ARAEFRRELRETAEBRZ

EREZRA

The Company’s immediate and
ultimate controlling party

ARAZ B R&EIEHT

A company of which
Mr. Fan Yajun, a director of
the Company, is
also a director and one of
the ultimate beneficiaries

ANREFBTEAETREER

Hf U RRRZBALZ AR

A company of which
Mr. Jiang Lei, a
director of the Company, is

also one of the ultimate beneficiaries

ARREEEERE

TREFR—IKRZEAZR

The amounts due to related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

2015 2014

—Z-1F —ZT—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AERET T

4,443 4,443

11,896 -

&l - 2,185
16,339 6,628

ENBEERRRRATIEER 22

KRR ESRENER °
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26. AMOUNTS DUE (TO)/FROM CUSTOMERS 26. ([Efl) BEEFSHIE
FOR CONTRACT WORK R
Details of construction contracts in progress at the end of RERERRPTZERIREED
each reporting period are as follow: IR -
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARETT

Contract costs incurred to date S ES 2 A HIKA 29,478 279,133
Recognised profits less recognised losses B &R A8 2 FE R E 18 5,210 46,765
34,688 325,898
Less: Progress billings W EE IR (35,383) (310,573)
(695) 15,325
Represented by: t& -
Amounts due from customers EREFEHITIEIE
for contract work (Note 19) (K1a£19) 962 15,325
Amounts due to customers ERNEFPAEHIIEHIE
for contract work (Note 22) (Kiat22) (1,657) -
(695) 15,325
As at 31 December 2015, the amounts due from RZZE—RFE+=-_A=+—H" ' #&
customers for contract work are expected to be recovered R —FAKODEREFEAHTE
within one year. FRIE o
Receipts in advance from customers for contract work RZZE—RFE+=-_A=+—H" ' #&
amounting to approximately RMB1,222,000 as at 31 WEPEHNIERFEELHRAREK
December 2015 (2014: RMB29,309,000) were included in 1,222,0007T (ZZE—MM4F : ARK
“Deposits received and receipts in advance”. 29,309,0007T) Wit A [BUliEE K&

BRI A -
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a) The movement of tax (recoverable)/payable in

27. FEMBRARAZHER

a) HREMBMRRMIZ (AT

the consolidated statement of financial position m),/ BABRERERAZEE
during the year are as follows: WM
2015 2014
—E—-ILfF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEF T
At 1 January R—H—H (9,113) 3,389
Provision for the year FAEME
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax — PR EMSHEE
— continuing operations — RHEEER (Kt 7(a)
(Note 7(a)) 32,761 19,629
- discontinued operations — BRIEEE (Kit6)

(Note 6) 7 38
Income tax paid during the year  ERE 5 (62,771) (32,169)
At 31 December +=—RA=+—H (39,116) (9,113)
Represented by: Rk :

Tax payable e IR 10,888 10,888
Tax recoverable BB (50,004) (20,001)
Net tax recoverable IR qEE b (39,116) (9,113)
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

b) Deferred taxation

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as

follows:

As at 1 January 2014
Charged to profit or loss
(Note 7(a))

As at 31 December 2014
and 1 January 2015

Charged/(credited) to
profit or loss (Note 7(a))

As at 31 December 2015

R-_E-NFE—A—H
EBEZH (Hi278)

NZE-NF+-A=+—H
R-E-h%F—A—H

EREXH/GIA) (HE76)

W=E-RF+=-A=1+—H

27. GEMBERARAZMETR

(¥#8)

b) EZEBIR

FANERA B BRI RIER
BEEREEE(BE) 24

REBHRBBWT -

Fair value

adjustment on

Depreciation trade

Withholding allowances receivables

tax on in excess with extended

undistributed of related  credit terms
profits  depreciation and others Total

BER

FEEZ

*3GRTz BHARFEZ MEEZRENH
kil HERE AREEREM st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
8,494 6,436 - 14,930
3,272 — = 3,272
11,766 6,436 - 18,202
4,787 1,116 (6,192) (289)
16,553 7,552 (6,192) 17,913
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

130

b)

Deferred taxation (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

BEERAEE
EERAEAR

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Laws of the
PRC (the “New EIT Laws”), a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from foreign investment enterprise established in the
PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax arrangement between the PRC and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable tax rate is 10%. The Group
is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividend
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008 onwards. The Group recognised deferred tax
liabilities in respect of expected distributable earnings
from its subsidiaries established in the PRC since 1
January 2008 with reference to the Group’s dividend
policy, no matter whether any dividends have been
declared out of such earnings by the subsidiaries
at the reporting date. The directors of the Company
will review the funding requirements of the Group
from time to time and revise the dividend policy of its
subsidiaries as appropriate.

27. FEMEBRARAZHER
(48)
b) EEHE (&)
LA Bt 7 3R B /9 m IR
ERREAEE 2 5T
2015 2014
—ZE—hF —=—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARET T
(6,192) =
24,105 18,202
17,913 18,202

RIBFEBEAFIOE ([
ERBTRED - ERBEKZH
SNEBRRSNEIIRE EFE IR
BV AR B AR 10% TR0 © 1t
REB-_ZTZENF-A—HE
AR BRAR-_ZETLF+
A=1+—BE&NEF - K+ E
HINE IR EE PR B AR AT
BRBRYE - AT RBRER X
BRFEMB - AAREMS -
BABERI0% - Bt - A&
| 78 3 70 o B B SZ B Y /BB 1 )
R-ZZBZNE-F—BURE
£ B F T R B AL S B TR
M- B —EENF—HA—
B AR 7 B X 37 9 P /BB 2 )
MR D EEEF TS - ALK
BRBEREBR - HRRT
BIRBE - Ewm B A RN
THRAEBXFRNKEE
RS > ARREZH AR
AAKENESER  RNEE
RHE AL M B A BB BRR ©
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

28.

b)

Deferred taxation (Continued)

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has not
recognised deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses amounting to approximately RMB29,098,000
(2014: RMB60,683,000) due to the unpredictability
of the future profit streams. All tax losses in the
PRC will be gradually expired within five years to
2021 (2014: 2020). The remaining tax losses can be
carried forward indefinitely.

DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS

As at 1 January Rn—HA—H
Additions NE

Released to profit or loss BAEE

As at 31 December R+—_A=+—8H

The deferred government grants are the subsidies received
from the PRC government for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

27. GEMBERARAZMETR
(¥#8)

b) EZEBE (&)

AR AR R 2 BEL
BMSHAEVHTE

RZE—RAF+ZA=+—
B BRARRFERE#ATE
i AEEWARERNARE
29,098,0007T (=& — PO 4 :
A R #60,683,0007T) H) 5 75
EBIEELNELERIBEE - T
BREFENBHBEEER =
T —F(Z2—mF: =T
—EF) I AFRELEE -
BT I8 0] R B A HS -

28. il §iE B Y ¥ BY

2015 2014
—ZE—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

4,709 =
- 5,367
(658) (658)
4,051 4,709

A SE BT 8 B 3R B R B AT A
WE -~ BB MR EHIHE)
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29. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised and issued share capital

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

Authorised:

As at 1 January and 31 December

Issued and fully paid:
As at 1 January

Issue of new ordinary shares (Note)

As at 31 December

132

SREE0 ETEAR

&R

R=A-BRfTZA=1-H

ERTRBE :

R-A-R

R EER (Wit

m+-F=1-H

29. Bg&
EEREBITRA
2015 2014
ZE-If —F-mE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
EineE &f Ri&E x|
'000 HK$'000 '000 HK$'000
T FHET T TAL
4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000
840,000 84,000 800,000 80,000
- - 40,000 4,000
840,000 84,000 840,000 84,000
(Equivalent to (Equivalent to
approximately approximately
RMB78,073,000) RMBT8,073,000)
(BERH (5
AR AR
78,073,007 ) 78,073,0007C)
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Authorised and issued share capital (Continued)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

Note:

On 8 July 2014, Praise Fortune Limited, the Company’s
immediate and ultimate controlling party, entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent for placing a maximum of
60,000,000 ordinary shares (the “Placing Shares”) of the
Company at a placing price of HK$1.63 per share. On the same
date, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with
Praise Fortune Limited for issue of a maximum of 60,000,000 new
ordinary shares at HK$1.63 per share.

On 22 July 2014, 40,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
were placed by Praise Fortune Limited to certain independent
third parties at a subscription price of HK$1.63 per share. On
the same date, the Company issued 40,000,000 new ordinary
shares to Praise Fortune Limited at an issue price of HK$1.63 per
share. The Company raised approximately RMB50,816,000 (net
of directly attributable expenses of approximately RMB1,361,000),
which was used for future development of WWCB business and
as general working capital of the Group.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

29. Bx®& (#8)

EEREBRITRAE (8)

EEBRFEABREDTEEIR 2
REXEERARBRE EAER
—ERE - 2MEBRYALAH

HREEMEBRF -

e

R=ZZ—WHELtANB  ARFEEEK
&% 7 Praise Fortune Limitedf2—
FERERNERIZEEESRMMN1.63%
7T B £ £ %60,000,000% A8 2 7) 2 58 Bk
(RErRD]) TLEEHsE  BA -
NRARGHIZ TR D1.63B TEITRS
60,000,0000% #7 & i@ A% BiPraise Fortune
Limitedz] 32 3288 1% o

R-_ZE—MWHFE+ A =+ = H  Praise
Fortune Limited[Al & FH L 5% = H R
8 B 5 IR AR 15 1.637% JT A 40,000,000
BARB LB - ABE - ARA) AT
& & I& B% 151.637 Jt [AIPraise Fortune
Limited 3% 7740,000,0008% 3 X 3@ % o A&
NEFEEH ARKES0,816,0007T (31
HERGFAX 4 ARK1,361,0007T)
1 FAEARMACRIR EB R REE R 1E
AAEB—REEES -
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30. RESERVES

30. fi i

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

As at 1 January 2014 RZE-ME-A-H
Loss for the year ENEE
Other comprehensive income At 2mEiE
- Exchange difference on tranglation  — BB HRE
of financial statements to ZHEBELY
presentation currency EH 2
Total comprehensive income ERRANEAE
for the year
Transfer to accumulated losses upon  AEREXHAERS
lapse of share options ZiEE

Issue of new ordinary shares (Note 29) B47# 3Bk (4229
Transaction costs attributable to BN LRRES

issue of new ordinary shares R (Hz229)
(Note 29)
As at 31 December 2014 and RZE—ME
1 January 2015 TZA=t-HEk
ZZ-15-A-H
Loss for the year ENEE
Other comprehensive income Et2mba
- Exchange difference on translation  — AEHBREZE
of financial statements to 2JEREEL
presentation currency EXZE
Total comprehensive income ERRENELE
for the year
Dividends paid (Note 11(b)) BRRE (Hitiiy)
As at 31 December 2015 RZZ-1F
t-B=1-H

134

AEBMFEEDSEKIN 2 FNR
HRZHBRINEAEREHE
AN A4 R O 18 B AR X B 10 78 4 ) S 4R
RZMHESERIIMT

FRE

Attributable to owners of the Company

L INGE £-PN
Share
Share Share Contributed  Translation option  Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
23 BRiERE #ARR ERERE BRERE RHER a8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT  ARETR
(Note 29) (Note (i) (Note (iv)) (Note (vi)) (Note (vii)
(Ftsko0) GE{) (M) (Brsk))  (rski))
74,872 419,229 372,178 (134,817) 19,504 (44,666) 706,300
- - - - - (10,333) (10,333)
- - - 11,587 - - 11,587
- - - 11,537 - (10,333) 1,204
- - - - (1,912) 1,912 -
3,201 48,976 - - - - 52,177
- (1,361) - - - - (1,361)
78,073 466,844 372,178 (123,280) 17,592 (63,087) 758,320
- - - - - (9,922) (9,922)
- - - 34,848 - - 34,848
- - = 34,848 = (0,922) 24,926
- - - - - (13,761) (18,761)
78,073 466,844 372,178 (88,432) 17,592 (76,770) 769,485
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30. RESERVES (Continued)

Share premium and reserves

i)

i)

v)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is
distributable to the owners of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value and share
premium of the subsidiaries acquired and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for
the acquisition of these subsidiaries at the time of
group reorganisation immediately prior to the listing
of the Company’s shares on 1 December 2007.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess capital
contribution from the non-controlling interest of #
27 oIRIBRET TI2AR A A], a former subsidiary of
the Company.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the ordinary shares
issued by the Company and the net assets value of
subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares
pursuant to the group reorganisation.

Enterprise expansion reserve and statutory surplus
reserve

Statutory surplus reserve and enterprise expansion
reserve are set up by the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC by way of appropriation
from the profit for the year in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. These
subsidiaries are required to allocate certain percent
of its net profit for the year as reported in their PRC
statutory accounts to the statutory surplus reserve
and enterprise expansion reserve until such reserves
reach 50% of registered capital. These reserves
are non-distributable. The statutory surplus reserve
can be used to make up prior year losses of these
subsidiaries, if any, and can be applied in conversion
into capital by means of capitalisation issues. The
enterprise expansion reserve is used for expanding
the capital base of these subsidiaries by means of
capitalisation issue.

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

30. ffm (#8)

PR AD 58 18 B2 fe

J

)

1)

Z

K17 wE

REREHEE QRE (KE
7)) ARAE Z B EER D
ETARBEAA - HEEBEE
FOIKBREER & KNRTA
ABRENEENEEXEHBE
REEZEER -

1 BItE

295 B 2 5 95 P B
B A2 B 1Dk (R
BARARHR —FELFT
—A—BELDAARARES
B IR SN E A A
ARG EEZESE -

e

PR o R 00 B SR IR 25
EVNLLILL DGt DA
BERHLRARAR 2N
EE

BAEE

BABREARARNADHITER
B HEEEREEEEHED
B PTIEIN B AR 2 B EF
ERWZEH -

ERER B EERE

FEBBRRENECEERGER
Ty R B SZ 2 R R B
AIRBEEERBIARERER
DEBFEEEAMRY - ZEHB
REIWADEEPENEERA
PRRE2®RET AL FRER
NEZXAEBBHEEMERER
e EEBERHEEEZEM
BAR250% - ZE T D
AL o JATE B AR R A R 4
BEFEZSMBLR 2ER
(WA) RAIABENEEIT L))
ABRBEN - PERBERFHE
BRARAE AR C#TT 25 iR
RZEHBRRZEARER -
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30.

136

T-AFt+t_A=1t—BLLFE

RESERVES (Continued)
Share premium and reserves (Continued)
vi)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of the entities within the
Group whose functional currency is other than RMB.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(t).

vii)  Share option reserve

The share option reserve arose upon on the grant of
share options of the Company and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2(p)(ii).

Distributable reserves of the Company

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, share premium and contributed surplus are
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of share premium and contributed surplus
if (i) it is, or would after the payment be unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due, or (i) the realisable value of
its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its share capital account.

As at 31 December 2015, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders amounted to
approximately RMB762,252,000 (2014: RMB785,935,000),
computed in accordance with the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s
articles of association. This includes the Company’s
share premium of approximately RMB466,844,000
(2014: RMB466,844,000) and contributed surplus of
approximately RMB372,178,000 (2014: RMB372,178,000),
less accumulated losses of approximately RMB76,770,000
(2014: RMB53,087,000), which are available for
distribution.

30. ffm (#8)

RDBERRE (&)
v) EZFE

ENFEEEREEERER
FARBZAEEER T
WREEZMBINEZRE - K
N A AR MY FE2(0) P L & 5T K
RERIERAE -

vij) FERIERE

EREFEEIEREARAZ
A RET E A - RIZHFE2(p)
(iPTE 2 ET R R IR o

E N DA 3

BIEFASHE QA RE (KEET) » I
DHREREARBGBA DK TRE
|ETH]ZJ§’AT§HE_FEJ IR 1% (i)
BREEENHEE H()T#IRE
?fﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁéﬁfﬁ&ﬂxﬁﬂﬁm A
BAIMSERIZABRE - HHh
B B M ABBRIEL DR

R—_E—RF+=—_A=+—80"
BRERAESEE QRE (EER) &
RAGHEBERMAUGE &2
AAHRSETREZHEEOAA
R #762,252,0007 (= & — 1
F: A R ¥785,935,0007T) ° 7%
HHEEEARRRG REHARE
466,844,0007T (ZF—HF : AR
#5466,844,0007T) REAARBBRL A
R #372,178,0007T (—ZZ — U4 :
AR#372,178,0007T) & 25+ &8
4 AN R #76,770,0007T (ZF — M
% AR¥53,087,0007T) © AJ{EH
DK °
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 1 December 2007. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options
to the following eligible participants:

)

i)

Vi)

vii)

viii)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time,
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
the Group holds an equity interest;

any non-executive director (including independent
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of business or business development of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group.

31.

B 35 AR M R
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Vi)

vii)

viil)
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue on the day on which trading of the shares
commenced on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(“General Scheme Limit”"). The total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
is 80,000,000 (including those granted but yet to be
exercised), representing 9.5% of the issued shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2015 (2014: 9.5%).

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
participant is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue during the 12-month period
before the date of grant without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Any grant of options under the
Share Option Scheme to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company. In addition, any grant of
options to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director or any of their respective associates
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million within any 12-month period must be
approved by shareholders of the Company in general
meeting.

Unless otherwise determined by the directors of the
Company and stated in the offer of the grant of options to
a grantee, there is one year vesting period required under
the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option
before it can be exercised.
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MR iEat® (48)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31. MBERERD (&\)
An offer for the grant of options to a grantee shall be MERAELHREBREZNA
accepted by no later than 21 days from the date of offer. TEREZX B EE21B AR - £
HK$1 per grant of options is payable on the acceptance MER 2 BEIRFER A 5 () B AR i
of the grant of options. Options may be exercised in XABTT o BEARE R RIRE R ERT
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme B2 fRFRATE - W AR 4% B AR 4 T 2
and expiring in accordance with the terms of the Share R BB IR AT B T B R
Option Scheme or upon the expiry of the tenth anniversary K (AREEBE) o
of the Share Option Scheme, whichever is the earlier.
The exercise price is determined by the directors of the TEEHARAESEEE  MAR
Company, and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the BEROF L EL B 8BRS AR
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the BRAFARR G 2 WTE (i)
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the ZERNEREASHIAESEA
date of the offer of grant; (i) the average closing price of MRS EMERMEANRFRN
the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations ZIFHWTHE - Ri)ARA A D@
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days B (UAEeERE) -
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
a) The terms and conditions of the share options a) RBFEEREEBREZHER
granted to directors and employees are as RIGHOT :
follows:
Number of
share
options Vesting Contractual
granted conditions life of options
FHEREHE BEGH BRESHEY
Granted to directors: BT ES 2B
- on 14 May 2008 —ZZETNF 5,800,000 one year 10 years
TA+MA —% T4
—on 11 June 2012 ——E——F 5,000,000 one year 10 years
/\H"f’ H _i +¢
Granted to employees: BT RE 2B
—on 14 May 2008 — —EENEF 12,000,000 one year 10 years
HA+MA —F 45
—on 11 June 2012 ——T——fF 30,000,000 one year 10 years
ANA+—AR —&F T4
Total number of share B AR 8
options granted 52,800,000
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

140

a)

The terms and conditions of the share options
granted to directors and employees are as
follows: (Continued)

On 14 May 2008, 17,800,000 share options were
granted for HK$1 consideration per offer to directors,
senior management and employees of the Group
under the Company’s Share Option Scheme. Each
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for
one ordinary share of HK$0.1 each of the Company.
These share options vested on 14 May 2009, and
are exercisable until 13 May 2018. The exercise price
is HK$2.81 per share. As at 31 December 2015, the
outstanding share options granted and accepted
by directors and employees was 13,800,000 (2014
13,800,000).

On 11 June 2012, 39,000,000 share options were
granted to directors, senior management and
employees of the Group under the Company’s Share
Option Scheme at a consideration of HK$1 for
each offer of which 35,000,000 share options were
accepted in July 2012. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of
HK$0.1 each of the Company. These share options
vested on 11 June 2013, and will be exercisable
until 10 June 2022. The exercise price is HK$0.83
per share. As at 31 December 2015, the outstanding
share options granted and accepted by directors and
employees was 32,500,000 (2014: 32,500,000).

No share options were lapsed during the year ended
31 December 2015 and 4,500,000 share options
were lapsed during the year ended 31 December
2014.

No share options were exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

31. MEBxHERtE (38)

a)
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31. MEBR#ERtE (48)

b) The number and weighted average exercise b) ERHUREEREECEM
price of share options granted and accepted by ZEREZHE RMEFEHET
directors and employees are as follows: EEMT :

2015 2014
—2-1f —E-mF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price  share options price share options

mEFSITER BEEBE ETSTRE BRERA

Outstanding at beginning FNRKITE
of the year HK$1.42# 7T 46,300,000 HK$1.46/8 7T 50,800,000
Lapsed during the year FREK - - HK$1.71BTT (4,500,000)
Outstanding at end of the year ~ E& AT HK$1.42i& T 46,300,000  HK$1.42/E7T 46,300,000
Exercisable at end of the year A P74 HK$1.4287 46,300,000 HKS1428T 46,300,000
The options outstanding as at 31 December 2015 RZE-—RF+-HA=+—H
had an exercise price of HK$2.81 or HK$0.83 (2014: MARTEEREZATEER
HK$2.81 or HK$0.83) and had a weighted average 2.8187L3k0.838 7L (ZE—1X
remaining contractual life of 5.207 years (2014: 6.207 F : 2.81% 7T 500.83/%8 7T) -
years). MEFLHFBEHNFER A
5207 (ZZE— M4 : 6.207
F) e
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31. MEBR#ERtE (48)
c) Fair value of share options and assumptions c) BREZAFERRER
The fair value of services received in return for share A B IREMES 2 RS2
options granted is measured by reference to the fair ANTERERBEREZ ATE
value of share options granted. The estimate of the P2 o BEREREZMFAF
fair value of the share options granted is measured BiRIZE] BHREEEEREN
based on the Binomial Option Pricing Model. The FE - BREZAENFHAL
contractual life of the share option is used as an Rz — B\ ARE -
input into this model.
Share options granted on
Rz BkiE
11 June 2012 14 May 2008

Fair value of share options and [ERREZAFER R —E—-_F —EENEF

assumptions ~NA+—H AA+IMA
Fair value at measurement date Ret=E B8z AT E HK$0.25#&TTE HK$0.881/5 7T

to
HK$0.277# T

Share price el HK$0.838TT HK$2.79% 7T
Exercise price 1T1EE HK$0.838T HK$2.81%ET
Expected volatility (expressed as TEHDR IR (VA [ =3B

weighted average volatility HEEEEARNEBN

used in the modeling under DEF R IERR)

the Binomial Option Pricing Model) 54% 40%
Option life (expressed as weighted — BERSEFHEE (A [ —1B = |

average life used in the modeling BREFEERARNEREAN

under the Binomial Option IREFHFEHIRR) 10 years 10 years

Pricing Model) T+ +4F
Expected dividends TEHARR B 4.82% 3%
Risk-free interest rate 472 8, i 1) =R

(based on Exchange Fund Notes) (IREBINERE S ZE) 1.13% 3.21%

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility based on
publicly available information. Expected dividends
are based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

There were one year vesting period associated with
the share options granted.
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32. SEGMENT REPORTING 32. HBEE

The Group manages its business by divisions and all those NEBZRBAZ D BEBEERS - T

divisions are located in the PRC. In a manner consistent BZENMHMNPE - BT HEHBE

with the way in which information is reported internally BRAERRBFGRAAEE S

to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resources EEBRRAANDERM2ER TR

allocation and performance assessment, the Group has ER—E AEEZVAT=(E"

presented the following three reportable segments. No EWDEL - WEGEMRBED S

operating segments have been aggregated to form the PEABRRIA T 2 A 28, HE0 -

following reportable segments.

e  Sales of EP products and equipment: this segment e RREMKRBIHE XD
involves the sales of EP products and equipment to HmNBEFIHERRER R
external customers. FAE o

*  Manufacture and sales of EP construction materials: o BERHERMREEME : K
this segment involves the manufactures and sales of HEPRE R MINAR P IHEIR
EP construction materials to external customers, and REEMP - TBER ARG
the main product is WWCB. IR o

e EP construction engineering projects: this segment e IRIREBFRTIEZIFA : by EPit
undertakes the EP construction engineering projects FINEBEPIRRERLIEE R
for external customers. HE -
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32. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a)

144

Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s CODM monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following basis:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and
current assets with the exception of tax recoverable,
investments in financial assets and other corporate
assets. Segment liabilities include trade and
other payables, deposits received and receipts in
advance attributable to individual segments and
bank borrowings managed directly by the respective
segment.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated and services rendered by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments. Inter-segment assistance provided by one
segment to another is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted EBITDA” that is, “adjusted earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where
“interest” is regarded as including investment income
and “depreciation and amortisation” is regarded as
including impairment losses on non-current assets.
To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings
are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as directors’
emoluments, auditors’ remuneration and other head
office or corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s CODM
is provided with segment information concerning
revenue, depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations.
Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to
prices charged to external parties for similar orders.

32. SEBEwE (8)
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a) Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and

liabilities (Continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and assessment
of segment performance for the years ended 31

December 2015 and 2014 is set out below:

Continuing operations:

RREERE:

Reportable segment revenue from  RESNIRE 2

external customers
Inter-segment revenue

Reportable segment revenue

Reportable segment profit
(adjusted EBITDA)

Depreciation and amortisation

Impairment loss on trade
receivables

Reversal of impairment loss on
trade receivables

Reportable segment assets

Additions to non-current segment
assets during
the year

Reportable segment liabilities

ERITRF
(#F% ZERITDA)

TER#H

ERESHHA
LREBR

ERESHHAL
REFRRE

A2EANAE

ENRE

32. #EBEwE (&)
a) DEHWA - BEFIREE - EE
R&E (&)
BE_Z—RAFK_ZF—NF
+ZA=+—HILEFE  $®E
TR BE K 3 30 7% 38 714 T Rl AR
SEHEREERKEARME S
REET 2355 FE RS a0
T
Sales of EP products Manufacture and sales of EP construction
and equipment EP construction materials engineering projects Total
BREGRERZHE LERHERRRENH BRERTIERA #it
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
ZZ-5f  —T-mF  IEZ-E§ —T-WF ZZ-Ef I-MF ZZ-Ef T-IF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ABRTR ARETT ABRTR ARETT  ARRTR ARETT AERTR AR¥TR
(Restated)
E2])
864,588 474867 176,622 102,666 27,383 - 1,068,593 577,533
864,588 474867 176,622 102,666 27,383 - 1,068,593 577,533
163,109 88,745 8,395 53927 820 - 172,324 142,672
(80) (1,685) (24,478) (26,144) - - (24,558) (27,829)
(19,276) (19,796) 2n) - (3,569) - (23,116) (19,79)
8,785 - - - 2,805 - 11,590 -
667,641 344,845 766,869 766,805 6,898 33,778 1,441,408 1,145,423
- 36,433 5,668 203,739 - - 5,668 240,172
416,135 234,747 34,080 29,140 36,688 52,209 486,903 316,096
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32. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

146

b)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,

profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Continuing operations:

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue
Elimination of intra-group
transactions

Consolidated revenue

Profit
Reportable segment profit

derived from external customers
Depreciation and amortisation

Unallocated head office and
corporate income

Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses

Consolidated profit before taxation

Assets
Reportable segment assets

Available-for-sale financial asset

Tax recoverable

Unallocated head office and
corporate assets

Assets in relation to
discontinued operations

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities

Tax payable

Deferred tax liabilities

Unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities

Liabilities in relation to
discontinued operations

Consolidated total liabilities

32. SEBEwE (8)

b) HWE2HSHBYA - BERIRE
B -EERREZYHR

2015 2014
—Z—-1%F —E-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRESEE - AR®TRT AREET T
(Restated)
(&%)
A
A2y WA 1,068,593 577,533
HIHEERR S
RE WA 1,068,593 577,533
B F
REINBEFH
T 2D T F 172,324 142,672
I E R (28,148) (29,767)
ROBLABI R
WS 1,616 2,559
ROBIE R EEMAS
(46,499) (52,967)
PR B4R & i A 99,293 62,497
H5E
AZ2W|DEEE 1,441,408 1,145,423
A EeREE - 9,000
AT U B 718 50,004 20,001
ROBLBEREEEE
371,095 463,064
BEERIEEEER
BE - 164,470
IREREE 1,862,507 1,801,958
=L
A2MOEEE 486,903 316,096
FERTRE IR 10,888 10,888
EREFIBEEE 24,105 18,202
ROBBIERPEAE
36,030 20,373
BREBKRIEREER 2
afE - 196,382
A BAaE 557,926 561,941
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32. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

c)

d)

Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers individually
contributing 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue is as follows:

EFR
BFEL

Customer A
Customer B

Revenue from customers A and B are generated from sales
of EP products and equipment.

*

The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or

more of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2014.

Geographical information
(i)  Revenue from external customers

The following table sets out information about
the geographical location of the Group’s
revenue from continuing operations from
external customers. The geographical location
of customers is based on the location at which
the services were provided or the goods were
delivered.

Mainland China e N
(place of domicile) (FEfs)

South Korea F R

Others HAh

32. SEBEwE (8)

c)

d)

FHETEEFZEH

18 5l 3 B BR A &= [ 48 W A10%
HAEZRBINBES ZHA

mR
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
169,231 N/A*
157,535 N/A*

KEFEFPRREF ZHBAILHE
RREMMRRBESE -

BE_Z-WFE+-_A=+
—RLFE - HENKAL
EARAEEEKAE10%k
AE -

Y

KEIEBEF Z WA

TR ABEAKEF
BIEKEXBMELNER
BN R P 2 WA B PR
R ER e BEFR
EERERRERE
m B S0 -

2015 2014
—E-AF —E-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR¥ETTT
(Restated)

(&%)

1,067,628 574,911
941 1,863

24 759
1,068,593 577,533
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32. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

d) Geographical information (Continued)

(i)

148

Specified non-current assets

The Group’s specified non-current assets
comprise property, plant and equipment,
prepaid lease payments and prepayments
for consultation, marketing and promotional
services.

The geographical location of these specified
non-current assets is based on (i) the physical
location of the assets, in the case of property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments, and (i) the location of the services
to be provided by the service providers, in
the case of prepayments for consultation,
marketing and promotional services.

The following table sets out information about
the geographical location of the specified
non-current assets.

Mainland China B K B
(place of domicile) (FEf)
Hong Kong B

d)

32. SEBEwE (8)

HwEER (F)

()

—F—aF
RMB’000
AR®TR

HEHRBEE

AEBZETHERBE
EBEOE BER
R ANEEREMN
Ni##H mEHEEMRE
BIRIEIFEMN R -

ZEEEFRDEEN
P FE 3 [ T3 AR IB()3L )
£ BEARBREN
HEFREMS  EEW
BB - R(i)Bt &
MG HEENREER
BIRMKME  REBRE
HEaSeRERE NI
= o

TR E B B EIER
BEENEREZE
B} o

2015 2014
—ET—mEF
RMB’000
ARBFIT

563,942 634,579
340 450

564,282 635,029
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34.

a)

A bank deposit of the Company’s subsidiary of
approximately RMB6,543,000 as at 31 December
2015 (2014: RMB6,5483,000) was pledged to a
bank to secure a banking facility of approximately
RMB3,977,000 (2014: RMB4,213,000) granted to
this subsidiary.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s building with
carrying amount of approximately RMB724,000
(2015: Nil) was pledged to a bank to secure a bank
loan of approximately RMB9,000,000 (2015: Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a)

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014, in addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group also entered into the following material
related party transactions:

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

33. BEEH
a) RZE—ARF+-_A=+—
H AQa—HEHRBAAZ
R1T 17 34 A R 6,543,000
T(ZF—WE: ARK

b)

6,543,00070) EEHE - UEA
ZH B AR R ZBITREN
AER#3 977,000t (ZZ—
fﬁ : AR#4,213,0007T) Z ¥
% °

F:z mE+-—_A=+—
 AREEREEHNASARE
72400075(_ —RF ;)
ZEFEEBTRITUNERE
214 AR #9,000,0007T (=F
—hHF:E) ZET—HKB
RRIZRITERZ R -

34. AREALES

a)

Relationship with Nature of
Name of related party  related party transaction
TREALEE HEREALZRE XHkE
Wuxi Xin Wei High A company of which Receipt of
Temperature Ceramics Mr. Jiang Quanlong, rental income
Co., Ltd. a director of the Company, WEEE A

ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%mm BBEERAR s also a director of its
holding company

ARAESERERL
MREERARZESZ AR

As at 31 December 2014, a bank loan of approximately
RMB9,000,000 (2015: Nil) was guaranteed by Mr.
Jiang Xin and Ms. Li Jingru. Mr. Jiang Xin is one of
the ultimate beneficiaries of Praise Fortune Limited,
the immediate and ultimate controlling party of the
Company, and Ms. Li Jingru is the spouse of Mr.
Jiang Xin.

As at 31 December 2014, bank loans of approximately
RMB14,000,000 (2015: Nil) were guaranteed by
Ms. Jiang Lixia, the legal representative of Shanghai
Environmental Engineering Design & Research
Institute Limited, the former subsidiary of the
Company.

BE_ZT-—HFR_T—NF
"l'fﬂf-i— HIEFE  BRR
b 5 B 755 SR 2% L Ath BB 49 P4k BB
R REFN KNEEBIR
BEIN T EBARBREALTR
5

2015 2014
~8-if “FNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AE®TTR ARETTT
53 53

RZFE—WNF+=—A=1+—
B 4 A R ¥9,000,0007T ~
BRTER(ZE—RF: £)
TAESRERTH O TE
R BE2hEAEARATHE
N &% #2452 | FPraise Fortune
LimitedEf — A RREm#ES
}\{o RNt ABSELEZ
AR A8 o

#:3 mE+-—_A=+—

- #9 AR #514,000,0007T 2
ﬁﬁﬁiéi,‘a (Z2E—R1F: &)
TR EERETIERERER
N A (KR AR ATH B A A
éiiﬁﬁ%)@%%@@éﬁﬂﬂ%
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

34. ARAEALES (&)

AEBXTEERBABZHM
(BNM EOPT I BB 2 1 F AR A A
EZLMEIOMKEZERS
MeALtheERERAEZS
&) #olmE

b) Remuneration for key management personnel of b)
the Group representing the amounts paid to the
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 9 and the
highest paid employees and senior management as
disclosed in note 10 is as follows:

2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTIT
Short-term employee benefits HHEERET 4,130 3,783
Post-employment benefits BEBS 4B F 117 100
4,247 3,883
35. COMMITMENTS 35. i
(a) Capital commitments (@) BEAEEE
2015 2014
—Z-hHF —T -4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTIT
Capital expenditure contracted BATYEEZ
but not provided for in the BRIV BRI Rk
financial statements: TEEBHE c EARE -
— in respect of the acquisition of —BEYE -
property, plant and equipment 5 B i 9,680 2,349
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35. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Operating lease commitments

As lessee

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had
operating lease commitments for future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of office premises, factory premises
and equipment which fall due as follows:

—FR
—FRIERFA

Within one year
After one year but within five years

Leases and rentals are negotiated and fixed for
periods of three years. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

As lessor

The Group had contracted with the tenants for the
following non-cancellable future minimum lease
payments receivable:

—FRQ
—FRIERFA

Within one year
After one year but within five years

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

35. i (&)

(b)

REHERE

EREREA
REBEHR - AEERBR
EWE - THEYEMREBIRE
TR REE EMEM AR KK
XNHEEHERBELHE
AR EERAT

2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
1,477 934

2,112 320

3,589 1,254
MRS BRAERETE

RE=F - HEHEERFEAA
HE -

ERHBA
AEBECEBP AT A AIH
B PR WOR R ERIE A & 15 3RET L
B4

2015 2014
—E—hF —ZE— P4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
53 53

71 124

124 177
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35. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
(b) Operating lease commitments (Continued)

As lessor (Continued)

Included in the above is future minimum lease
payments receivable from Wuxi Xin Wei High
Temperature Ceramics Co., Ltd., a related company,
of approximately RMB124,000 (2014: RMB177,000)
and the non-cancellable future minimum lease
payments receivables is as follows:

Within one year —F R
After one year but within five years —&F&BRER

The related company is a company of which Mr.
Jiang Quanlong, a director of the Company, is also a
director of its holding company.

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has provided product warranties to its
customers in respect of construction work completed
and certain of its EP products sold for a warranty period
ranging from 6 months to 2 years after project completion
or product delivery. At the same time, the Group has also
received warranties in respect of those construction work
and equipment supplied from its sub-contractors and
suppliers. The directors of the Company believe that the
amount of crystallised warranty liabilities will not have a
material adverse effect on the overall financial position or
financial performance of the Group.
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35. #*iE (&)

(b) HEHEAE (H)

EBHEA ()

PR EHEAERENAR
#124,0007C (Z & — I £ :
AR #177,000T) 2 —E B
ERRESTEREREERR
DA AR REIET S FE WK K
S A]HEH AR 2R B (K A & R K

THIAR -
2015 2014
—=E—h%F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

53 53
71 124
124 177

MEARA—RARAESEE
RELENREEB AR ZE
E /NI

36. ARRAR

AEBREORTIRETIREZREE
ZETRREMREZTPREHER
RE REHHIZERRHER
ZERAANEAZEMELF - [
B AEETEEEASEHRHEE
BRARR s BRTEERE 2R
ER% - ARREZHEREAR
CERSBRBTEHASEERY
BARRKF BRI EREKRTHF
@ .
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37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, and to generate sufficient profit to maintain growth
and provide a satisfactory return to its shareholders.

The management actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
through the amount of dividend payment to shareholders
or raise new debt financing. No changes were made in the
objectives or policies during the year.

The management monitors the Group’s capital structure on the
basis of a net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, the Group
defines net debt as total debt (which includes interest-bearing
loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, and deposits
received and receipts in advance minus cash and bank
balances).

The net debt-to-equity ratio as at 31 December 2015 and
2014 was as follows:

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Deposits received and receipts
in advance
Short-term bank loans

MEAE :

FEEIRITE R

Subtotal /NEE
Less: Cash and bank balances NEaE

Net debt BEFHE
Total equity

Net debt-to-equity ratio B R E

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

e RIR1THE

37.

e B 5 R E AR
Bz & M FEUGK

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

BEsEH

AEEEEERNZHEZBBRRE
AREBERNEBEREFBLERE
RE - ARESERHBE N CAMER
£ RABREEUREZ B -

BIEEEGNERHEAREET
mE RERE  NERSBRLEERS
ATAREFE s BREREKFER
f 2 BAGMRMN TR Z 1F lE RRE 2
B ES F 1 - 3055 38 A UK 3 A
BRETHEBRENERREE
HEE - FR - WEM&%Eﬁ

BR A (T &

EEERERL R FEEETYE
RAKBEZBERERE - Bt A%
BRE B FRSEHAR (BT
BERREBE BNESHREMK
IE&EH&&%&%HSZ X D0 3F R AT #E

DR EIRIRE RERTTAERR) ©
RZE—RAFER_ZT—NF+=A
=+F—BZEELEFEDT

2015 2014
—E—5LfF = — o4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFIT

187,553 176,795
331,329 337,347

- 14,000
518,882 528,142
(275,964) (379,236)
242,918 148,906
1,304,581 1,240,017
18.62% 12.01%

PiN/NEST = R G =l = R/NIST 3l
EEHE 2 B AR E PR
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BE-_T-—AF+_A=1+—HULFE
38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. &M TH
a) Categories of financial instruments a) SWMIASE
2015 2014
—ZE—h%F — P4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARET T
Financial assets EMEE
Trade receivables JEUE 55108 519,832 131,425
Other receivables H b W sk IE 26,703 44,994
Retention receivables @H&E{%y’ 35,839 51,826
Amounts due from related JE U B8 R B 5K I8
companies 1,016 16
Amounts due from customers EWEFE X TIERIE
for contract work 962 15,325
Pledged bank deposits EHEAIRITIFH 6,543 6,543
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTH 275,964 379,236
Loans and receivables B R EW R 866,859 629,365
Available-for-sale financial asset AEHESREE - 9,000
Financial liabilities measured DS EtENEMAR
at amortised cost
Trade and other payables FETE 5 R E b FRIE 185,213 172,142
Short-term bank loans i HIRITE R - 14,000
185,213 186,142
b) Financial risk management objective and policies b) SBMEREERBRERER
Exposure to credit, interest rate, liquidity and AREEBRRBHRAZE
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currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. These risks are limited by the
Group’s financial management policies and practices

described below.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

%f N %'JZ%— N //|L@J§i& pggj
B o ZNER EF A T X P BT 7S
EEBERERERZER

’Zﬁ o
A

rEBERE

BT Ak HER

Ket BRI 2773 2 A FEE R
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

i)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2015, the maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position
after deducting any impairment allowance.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables, amounts due from
related parties, and other receivables which
are disclosed elsewhere in these financial
statements. Management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group has adopted a policy of only dealing
with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a
means of mitigating the risk of financial loss
from defaults.

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. The Group
generally allows credit period ranging from 0
to 365 days to its trade customers with normal
credit terms and credit period up to three
years to its trade customers with extended
credit terms which is based on the contractual
repayment schedule. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from its customers.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

38. &#m TR ()

b) TEREREEEEREE (H)

=EERE

RZE—RF+=-_A=
+—H ZAHEER
RHENE BRI E BRI
EHAEeRMEECEREER
B (A 30 B 1E {a] 5 (B 5
) o

AEBZEERBRTIE
KEREFMBHRRE
fE D WEZEKE S
PR - B EET KA
KREMBERFKE - EE
BRETHREZEER
R UIRKBEEZREE

Sk -

EFERBREHFIEHR
BHRTHRENTR
SEXXPBEINE
o NEBEDRERAR
EERUFHAF ISR
EERzTREHm (WEF
B) 2HE - WRIEER
EE s EERR o

PEWE SHRIEMmE
AEEBHEKRK—TLH
NEEEZHERFME
B 1715 B &L fh o FE1E
TERBEEPZELER
Stk RIER 2B
N YEEBERFEZ
ERABERERELSE
R ANEE—RBET
2 5 B F02E3658 M IE
BEEEH L THES
EFRE-FZIERE
B - E—HRBRT
AEBTEATFER
R o

155



Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

s RLRREBERRAT

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 55 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
E-—AE+_A=+—RHILFE

HEC

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

156

b) Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

i)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer.
Taking into account the creditworthiness of the
Group’s customers, the credit risk measures and
the historical levels of the bad debts, the directors
of the Company consider that such concentration
of credit risk would result in significant credit
default exposure to the Group. At the end of the
reporting period, 22.85% (2014: 0.01%) and
74.30% (2014: 14.13%) of trade receivables were
due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers, respectively, arose from
the sales of EP products and equipment segment
and the manufacture and sales of EP construction
materials segment.

The credit risk on the Group’s trade receivables
with extended credit terms is limited because
the counterparties are certain government
authorities in the PRC having no default
payment history.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of
the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are set out in note 19.

Amounts due from related parties are regularly
monitored by the Group and follow up actions
are taken to recover these balances in the case
of any risk of default.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because the counterparties are banks with
good reputation and high credit ratings.

The credit risk associated with an advance to
a local government authority is low because
the counterparty is PRC local government.
The carrying amount of the amount advanced
to the local government authority amounted
to approximately RMB17,230,000 as at 31
December 2014 (2015: Nil) (see note 19(c)).

38. &M IR ()
b) SREARETEESERKE (H)

FEERE (&)

MEWE SHEMmMS
AEBZEERBEE
ZHERFE Z@EBEBR
W%mo%ﬁﬂ$gl
EﬁZF= = E &
m&_?;zt$*
$ ARAREERE "
hEEREERBSY
AEBEKNEREE
KERE - RBEHR
REHEERAFRE MR
BB RREEREER
BEMB S I ZE
PN
N
5

£ 8
EFE 2R E K
X TE22.85% (—
M4 :0.01%) &
74.30% (Z & — [0 £ :
14.13%) °

2y

A

AEFBELERESEHN
KRB HRBAZEER
RER ARSHFIR
I B H# R IE T AL 8% 2
BE TR HHE

AR S E R E R
EPRAEECZEE
e RZEBURBEHR
BiEE19 ©

FE W B8 77 SR | T
HAEEERUARARE
VEH%KH 2 PR X

EITB AN EZF S

m @ § S 1; ff ﬁ
R Iﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂﬁ
RIFEERSEENR
H3R1T o

A B8 T8 1~ 5 Hh BT 26 P
HEZEERR AR
THREFHAEFTEHE
WHF AT — &
+-—_A=+—H: W&
& Hb BT 30 P9 5K IB
ZEEEOHOAEARE
17,230,000 (ZZ&—H
F ) (RMEE19(c)) °
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b) Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates
primarily to variable-rates of pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and short-term bank
loans. The Group’s normal policy is not to use
any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, the management
of the Company will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the
need arises. The Group’s interest rate profile
as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.

i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate

profile of the Group’s borrowings at the
end of each reporting period.

B 35 AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

38. &#m TR ()

b) TEREREEEEREE (H)

)

2015
~2-if

Effective
interest rate

ERFIE%
Variable rate borrowing  ZEVF/

Bank loan-unsecured RITER — A N/ATER
Bank loan-secured RITEN - BHE N/AFER

Total borrowings BER

RMB’000
AR®TR

FIEEB

AEBZRESRENR
BB Z 8B |IFRT
TR BRITHEBRES
BTERZZHIERE
e —Mms A&H
ZERENFEBEAITA
BHRHPEFERR -
N E - KRR EE
EBieZEEHREKRT
EZEB e AEBRER
B B R/ 7 R BE R # 5
T (i) °

) FEBER

TRAMANEED
BN EREHR
A R AT o

2014
“Z-QF

Effective
interest rate RM/B’OOO
EBFZ=N  ARETR

5.0% - 6.0% 5,000
6.0% - 7.8% 9,000
14,000
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

158

b) Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

ii)  Interest rate risk (Continued)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2015, it is estimated
that a general increase/decrease of
100 basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group’s profit
after tax and increase/decrease the
Group’s retained profits by approximately
RMB2,119,000 (2014: RMB2,783,000).
Other components of equity would not be
affected by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest
rate risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the end of
the next reporting period. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for year
2014.

38. &#m TR ()

b) TEREREEEEREE (H)

W FFEREE (&
i) RSN

R-ZE—AF+=
AE=+—8' #&
et ERTAEM
BB TE B
AT FERILE L
F /K FEA00fE £
B AERZ B
Fi 1858 F 38 b0 Rk
LPRAEEZIRE
St FI 3 hn Rk A 49
A R #2 119,000
T (ZE— W&
A R #2 783,000
JL) o Mz HAM
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BREMNEEFHE
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. &M TR (#)

b) Financial risk management objective and policies b) SmREAMEEEEZRBE (&)
(Continued)

iii)

Liquidity risk i) REEZERE

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will

mEE T BT

encounter difficulty in meeting obligations ARBRETHERH
associated with financial liabilities that are AR e RN T3k
HiemMEELE

settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset as they fall due. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants and to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from banks to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The following table details the remaining

APz EMBES
5 5 48 2 IR 2 e [
B o NEEZHR
REREEB IR
BHzZRHEESH
KR EETHERR
Bz BN AR
AEBEHEFTMER
o S T R
TREREENE
T AEMEEH
EEEHMZRBHE

TRAFHIAEE

contractual maturities at the end of the ZIETTEEMAR
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative RBEPRRZEET
financial liabilities, which are based on BHHR - WHE

REHETERBIE

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

Ben (BRRIE
BRI =R (F S
FEFIR - BIER
WEHRNIRITH
) SHEZMBAN
) KA E ] R

ANFz&FBH
=,
Al 7+
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Financial risk management objective and policies

(Continued)

i) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Trade and other payables
Short-term bank loans

160

38. &#m TR ()

b) TEREREEEEREE (H)

W mBELEE (E

2015 2014
~E-1% —E-mE
Contractual undiscounted Contractual undiscounted
cash flow cash flow
SHMEXBARLR BHFERERRST
Within one Within one
year or year or
Carrying  on demand Carrying  on demand
amount  —ERE Total amount  —ER, Total
EEE BXN an K B3N a3
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TRL ARRTR ABRTR AR®Tn ARETn ARETR
ERBSREMTE 185,213 185,213 185,213 172,142 172,142 172,142
RHRIEH - - - 14,000 14,000 14,000
185,213 185,213 185,213 186,142 186,142 186,142
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

iii)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table summarises the maturity
analysis of bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause based on agreed scheduled
repayments set out in the loan agreements.
The amounts include interest payments
computed using contractual rates. As a result,
these amounts are greater than the amounts
disclosed in the “within 1 year or on demand”
time band in the above maturity analysis. Taking
into account of the Group’s financial position,
the directors of the Company do not consider
it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretion to demand immediate repayment.
The directors of the Company believe that
these bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements.

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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38. &#m TR ()

b) TEREREEEEREE (H)

177)

mEEZERE (&

TR A R ERE
BIRRZRITERRIE
B R 1% % P82 1 E R
RIGERERZBHAE D
- BRATEBEENE
MAEFEZHEN
el ZFLES
R ERBEBE SR —
F Rk E KA | B 6 E
BB  BER
AREBEZBHBMRR - &
NRAEFRR/|ITIA
AR TR ERAEE
RZBIEHE - AORIE
EHE ZERTER
1 & R IR E R T
ZATEIER B BEE -

Maturity analysis - Bank loans

subject to a repayment
on demand clause based
on scheduled repayments
B H A - RERRIERZ
SRITHR GRAIBERAH)
Total
undiscounted

Within one year  cash outflows

KR

R—FR HeREwE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETTT

At 31 December 2015 R-E2-1F+-A=+—H - -
At 31 December 2014 R-_ZE—NE+_A=+—H 15,002 15,002

AREBR -_T—HEF
+—A=+—8BHEHE
ZHRERBITHEBL
A R #275,964,0007C
(ZE-—ImF: ARK

The Group held cash and bank balances
amounting to approximately RMB275,964,000
as at 31 December 2015 (2014:
RMB379,236,000), and the directors of the
Company consider that it is adequate for the - ~
Group to manage its liquidity requirements in the g?ﬁzg?zo%ogga; f\

: H e /s < —
coming next twelve months from 31 December T Fa4— A=t—

2015. Rzt &R+ — (@AM

RINEEERBDESS
;J\ZO
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

162

b) Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

iv)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk
primarily through sales and purchases that
are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which
they relate. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure if necessary.

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of each reporting
period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of exposure are shown in
RMB, translated using the spot rate at the
end of the reporting period.

Amounts due to related &L R FA
companies

Cash and bank balances Be RRITES

Overall exposure BERR

38. &#m TR ()

b) TEREREEEEREE (H)

) EEEE

AEBYRhzEERR
ET2REEARBHS
KN EBIAIZEE
AECEERSEBZ
R - A&E B A I E
SNEE BB o AT
BEEESEEIER
B YREFTEREZE
HHEARINERR

) EHEEEER

TRHNAEER
% W E B K | e
ZE¥RR B
[\ B Ty B LA B 8 48
EREWZNERN
Mohz ¥t EZ
EHREENARE
MEL - LE2WE
MWmE - ZEFRR
TRIAARER
R WIAREHR
ZENEAR KRB E -

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in RMB’000)

EHOMERE (UARRTFTHE)

2015 2014

ZE-If —E-mE
United United
Hong Kong States  Hong Kong States
Dollars Dollars Dollars Dollars
& E Y BT £
(11,896) - - -
- 3,737 - 3,649
(11,896) 3,737 - 3,649
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

iv)  Currency risk (Continued)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the
approximate change in the Group’s
profit after tax for the year and retained
profits and other components of equity in
response to reasonably possible changes
in the foreign exchange rates to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period.

2015
Z2-1F
Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign Effect on Effect on
exchange profit retained
rates after tax profits
IREE  HERE& HiE
L#/(FH)  BuzvE  BuvE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AERTRE  AERTR
Hong Kong
Dollars AT 1% (89) (89)
(1%) 89 89
United States
Dollars e 1% 2 2
(1%) (28) (28)
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b) TEREREEEEREE (H)

) EFEE (&
i) RSN

TRETNHREH
RAEE 2 F A
18 5 A K AR B
) B HE 28 At 2R )

EAEEBEBREKXR
[B. B 2 BE 2= & T2 /]
BB T 2HNE

&f) o

2014

“E-|F
Increase/
Effect on (decrease) Effecton
other in foreign Effect on Effect on other
components exchange profit retained  components
of equity rates after tax profits of equity
HEE  MEX HRER HiRE Higs
LtBRcNE CF/(TH)  EAzPE  EMZYE HedhovE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR ARBFT  ARETR  ARETR
- 19 - _ -
- (1%) - - -
- 1% 2 2 -
- (1%) (27) (27) -

163



Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited ¢ jZ R R{REBHR A T

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 55 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE_T-—RF+-_A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

164

b)

c)

Financial risk management objective and policies
(Continued)

iv)  Currency risk (Continued)

i)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
foreign exchange rate had occurred at
the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the Group’s exposure
to currency risk for financial instruments
in existence at that date. The stated
changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible
changes in foreign exchanges rates
over the period until the end of the
next reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for year
2014.

In the management’s opinion, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year-end exposure does not affect the
exposure during the year.

Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the
following financial instruments.

i) Loan and receivables and financial liabilities
at amortised cost

For financial assets and financial liabilities
that are liquid or having a short-term maturity,
it is assumed that the carrying amounts
approximate their fair values. The assumption
is applied to trade and other receivables, trade
and other payables, pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank loans and bank balances
without a specific maturity. For other financial
instruments, the fair values are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

38. &M T A ()
b) LMEABREEERRKE (H)

) EEEE (F)
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EEEEHEET
118 % 5 H1 >R L #A R
SIMEERSENE
A] BE HY B )Y AT
i —F—MOFH
27 = AR R B9
T -

EERERR B
B o i R gE K&
B A 2 51 [ = [
2 TR FHER
[\ B 3 5B F A
R

c) VP EME

LATR B A T & /it T B (b at
ANFEEFAZEEREARR

) mEME REHEE
REE&E
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTY

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 2, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumption are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if revision affects both current and
future period.

i) Useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments

Management determines the estimated useful
lives and residual values for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies stated in notes 2(e) and
2(f) respectively. The Group will revise the
depreciation charge and the amortisation
expense where useful lives and residual values
are different from previous estimates, or will
write off or write down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold.

B 35 AR M R
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BEERREBHER MR
EMEL - BEFRRAERA LR A
RExFEbET

ZfhET LA RR S RSER
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

166

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

ii)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of an item of the property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments may not be
recoverable, the asset may be considered
“impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
recognised in profit or loss in accordance
with the accounting policy for impairment of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments as described in note 2(g)(ii).
The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed
periodically in order to assess whether the
recoverable amounts have declined below the
carrying amounts. These assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount.

39. FAE S & FIER R &5t A A BA
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

ii)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments (Continued)

The recoverable amount is the greater of the
fair value less costs of disposal and the value in
use. In determining the value in use, expected
future cash flows generated by the asset
are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgement relating to the
level of revenue and amount of operating costs.
The Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of
the level of revenue and amount of operation
costs. Changes in these estimates could have
a significant impact on the carrying value
of the assets and could result in additional
impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods. As at 31 December 2015, the
carrying amount of the Group’s prepaid lease
payments, and property, plant and equipment
are approximately RMB53,340,000 (2014:
RMB54,534,000) and RMB428,836,000 (2014
RMB451,690,000), respectively.

B 35 AR M R
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

168

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

iii)

iv)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale. These estimates are based on the current
market conditions and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of
similar nature. Management will reassess the
estimates at the end of each reporting period.
The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
as at 31 December 2015 is approximately
RMB238,605,000 (2014: RMB244,270,000).

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the
provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables. This estimate is based on the
credit history of its customers and the current
market conditions. Management reassesses
the provision at the end of each reporting
period. The carrying amount of the Group’s
loans and receivables (included in trade and
other receivables) as at 31 December 2015
is approximately RMB584,352,000 (2014:
RMB243,586,000).
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v)

vi)

Construction contracts

As explained in policy notes 2(i) and (2)(s)
(i), revenue and profit recognition on an
incompleted project is dependent on estimating
the total outcome of the construction contract,
as well as the work done to date. Based on
the Group’s recent experience and the nature
of the construction activities undertaken by the
Group, the Group makes estimates of the point
at which it considers the work is sufficiently
advanced such that the costs to complete and
revenue can be reliably estimated. As a result,
until this point is reached the amounts due
from customers for contract work as disclosed
in note 26 will not include profit or loss which
the Group may eventually realise from the work
done to date. In addition, actual outcomes in
terms of total cost or revenue may be higher
or lower than that estimated at the end of
the reporting period, which would affect the
revenue and profit recognised in future years
as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to
date.

Warranty provisions

As explained in note 36, the Group does not
make provision for product warranties it gives
on sales of its EP products and provision of EP
construction engineering projects, taking into
account the Group’s recent claim experience
as the Group has also received warranties
in respect of those construction work and
equipment supplied from its sub-contractors
and suppliers. It is not indicative of future
claims that it will receive in respect of past
sales.
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

170

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets
and liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the
effects of uncertain future events on those assets
and liabilities at the end of each reporting period.
These estimates involve assumptions about such
items as cash flows and discount rates used. The
Group’s estimates and assumptions are based on
historical experience and expectations of future
events and are reviewed periodically. In addition
to assumptions and estimations of future events,
judgements are also made during the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies.

i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong
Kong and various taxes in the PRC. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
provision for taxation. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional tax
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATES
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

39. FAE S & FIER R &5t A A BA
ERERRE (#)

b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the b) ERAKEZSHBERERE
Group’s accounting policies (Continued) HZEEH T (&)
i)  Withholding tax on the distributable profits of i) AR EHEHE L AR
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries 0] 77 ) 71 78 HI

On 16 March 2007, National People’s Congress
approved the New EIT Laws which was
effective from 1 January 2008. According to
the relevant regulations of the New EIT Laws,
when a foreign investment enterprise distributes

R-BELE=A+5A
B 2BAARRRAR
BB T B D X S B
% AR=FENF -
A— B RBE - RIEH

dividends out of the profits earned from 1 EMRFHREZABR
January 2008 onwards to its foreign investors, E A ZNE IR
they are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income BREMBINEEED

Tax. The applicable income tax rate varies with
the origin of the overseas investors.

The Group has made provision for withholding
tax on dividends expected to be remitted from
the subsidiaries established in the PRC, based
on the Group’s general dividend policy for the
profits generated by these subsidiaries after 1
January 2008. The Group provided withholding
tax for such undistributed profits as deferred
tax liabilities. The directors of the Company will
regularly review the dividend distribution policy
of these subsidiaries from time to time.
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40.

172

“E-RFTA=+—HIEE

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

As disclosed in note 6, the Group discontinued its
operations of provision of EP related professional services
at the time of disposal of its entire equity interest in Wuxi
Zhong Dian. The gain from disposal of the Disposal Group

is analysed as follows:

Cash consideration received

Analysis of assets and liabilities over
which control was lost:

Prepaid lease payments

Property, plant and equipment

Trade and other receivables

Inventories

Cash and bank balances

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary

Trade and other payables

Short-term bank loan

Deposits received and receipts in advance

Amount due to an intermediate holding
company

Amount due to a fellow subsidiary

Non-controlling interests

Net liabilities disposed of

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:

Cash consideration received

Net liabilities disposed of

Assignment of amount due from a fellow
subsidiary

Assignment of amount due to an
intermediate holding company

Assignment of amount due to a
fellow subsidiary

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 6)

Net cash outflows arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

Net cash outflows from disposal of
subsidiaries

The results and cash flows of the Disposal Group in the
current and prior periods are disclosed in note 6.
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MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, trade
receivables of approximately RMB15,030,000 were
settled by prepaid lease payments and buildings with
carrying amounts of approximately RMB5,180,000 and

RMB9,850,000 respectively.

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS
Amount due from a subsidiary
Other receivables
Cash and bank balances

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Other payables

NET CURRENT ASSETS

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBHEE
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Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 30 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Jiang Quanlong
Director
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2015 2014
—Z—-1%F —E-mEF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

P E AR®TR ARBET T

337 441

17 551,544 526,953
551,881 527,394

262,578 250,708

774 757

187 558

263,539 252,023

42,743 19,285

3,192 1,812

45,935 21,097

217,604 230,926

769,485 758,320

29 78,073 78,073
30 691,412 680,247
769,485 758,320
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Jiang Lei BRE
Director EE
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IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Praise
Fortune Limited, which was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. This entity does not produce financial
statements available for public use.
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44. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Up to the date of issuance of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued the following amendments and
new standards which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2015 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

Amendments to HKFRSs, Annual 1 January 2016
Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-
2014 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and A date to
HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of be determined
Assets Between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to HKFRS 11, 1 January 2016
Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

Amendments to HKAS 1, 1 January 2016
Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 and 1 January 2016
HKAS 38, Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation

HKFRS 15, Revenue from 1 January 2017
Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Financial Summary

MBRE

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and the ~ FTRAAEBBAREMBREEZHFAE
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five EREAEERAERE :

financial years.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Continuing operations:
Revenue

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Income tax expenses

Profit/(loss) for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinued operations:

Profit/(loss) for the year from
discontinued operations

Profit/(loss) for the year

RHEEERE
LN

FRBEATEN (E5R)

FfEB i

FEREBFHERE
M/ (BR)

ERILEEERY

FERBEERLE
REXHZ

wrl/ (B18)

FREN/(BR)

N

maxRA

For the year ended 31 December
BE+_A=1+—HLEE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total non-current assets
Total current assets

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

176

FRBEERE
REBAEERE

BERE
BEER

BEFE

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—2-RFf —TWF ZT-=F T Ff T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Restated)
(E7)

1,068,593 577,533 587,980 410,838 476,026
99,293 62,497 (18,026) (27,266) 19,986
(32,472) (22,901) (3,371) (5,984) (11,162)
66,821 39,596 (21,397) (33,250) 8,824

1,996 (16,193) = - _
68,817 23,403 (21,397) (33,250) 8,824

FEEERAR

As at 31 December

®+=-B=+—H
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
“E-HE ~—T-NFE —T-=F —T——F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
683,218 644,029 429,876 360,912 301,690
1,179,289 1,157,929 1,096,053 1,243,248 1,214,246
1,862,507 1,801,958 1,525,929 1,604,160 1,515,936
(657,926)  (561,941) (360,032) (418,889) (301,462)
1,304,581 1,240,017 1,165,897 1,185,271 1,214,474
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